

CLOSUP Working Paper Series Number 58

December 2021

State of Michigan Renewable Energy Policy Analysis

Christian Koch, University of Michigan Nathan Legault, University of Michigan Saif Ur Rehman, University of Michigan Elizabeth Wallace, University of Michigan

This paper is available online at http://closup.umich.edu

Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the view of the Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy or any sponsoring agency

Center for Local, State, and Urban Policy Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy University of Michigan

STATE OF MICHIGAN RENEWABLE ENERGY POLICY ANALYSIS

December, 2021

University of Michigan School for Environment and Sustainability

Christian Koch | MS Candidate Nathan Legault | MS Candidate Saif Ur Rehman | MS Candidate Elizabeth Wallace | MS/MBA Candidate

SEAS SCHOOL FOR ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
1 STATE BACKGROUND	4
1.1 MICHIGAN'S ELECTRICITY MIX	4
1.2 RENEWABLE ENERGY POTENTIAL	6
1.3 LOCAL NARRATIVES OF RENEWABLE ENERGY	10
1.5 ECONOMIC, DEMOGRAPHIC, AND POLITICAL FACTORS	12
2 POLICY OVERVIEW	15
2.1 CLIMATE POLICY	15
2.1.1 RENEWABLE PORTFOLIO STANDARD (RPS)	15
2.1.2 IMPACT ON RENEWABLE ENERGY DEPLOYMENT	17
2.1.3 EXECUTIVE ACTION	17
2.2 TAXATION OF RENEWABLES	19
2.2.1 WIND TAX POLICY	19
2.2.2 SOLAR TAX POLICY	22
2.3 SITING AUTHORITY	22
2.3.1 WIND ENERGY SITING AND PERMITTING	25
2.3.2 SOLAR ENERGY SITING AND PERMITTING	27
2.4 INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT	28
2.5 RENEWABLE ENERGY ON PUBLIC LANDS	33
2.6 THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION (MPSC)	34
2.6.1 INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLANNING (IRP)	35
2.6.2 RENEWABLE ENERGY PLAN CASES	36
2.6.3 GREEN PRICING PROGRAMS	37
2.6.4 PUBLIC UTILITY REGULATORY POLICIES ACT (PURPA) AVOIDED COST REVIEW	38
2.6.5 MI POWER GRID INITIATIVE	39
2.6.6 DISTRIBUTED GENERATION PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION	40
3 CONCLUDING ANALYSIS	43

ABSTRACT

As market forces and policy interventions continue to facilitate a renewable energy transition, U.S. states are increasing their shares of renewable energy technologies. In recent years, Midwest states, such as Michigan – which have historically been intensely reliant on conventional energy sources – have become especially dynamic energy policy landscapes because of recent yet rapid transitions toward renewable energy.¹ In the unique case of Michigan, state-level policy has been a major driver for investments in renewable energy across the state. While Michigan has had some successes in implementing notable renewable energy policies and programs, Michigan's renewable energy landscape is hyper-sensitive to political outcomes in Lansing. Therefore, if Michigan is to achieve its long-term renewable energy goals, it must incorporate more stable and cohesive solutions that will promote renewable energy within the fabrics of Michigan's broader policy landscape.

While complex in its politics and energy policy landscape, Michigan is expected to see significant growth in renewable energy over the next few decades.² The rate of this growth, however, is dependent on many factors that exist within Michigan's borders. This paper discusses the current renewable energy policy landscape across Michigan and explores potential policy solutions at the state and local level that can help advance Michigan's long term energy goals.

In addition to government policy and politics, this paper also considers the role that policy interventions in areas such as taxation, siting authority, infrastructure investment, and the utilization of public lands as platforms to increase renewable energy deployment across Michigan. By considering a range of policy solutions in areas such as these, Michigan can hit its stride in delivering long term stability and demonstrate itself as a unique leader amongst U.S. states transitioning to renewable energy.

1 | STATE BACKGROUND

Known as the 'Great Lakes State,' Michigan is surrounded by one-fifth of the world's freshwater supply and 90% of the U.S.'s freshwater supply.^{3, 4} Michigan is the 22nd largest state in the US by land area and 11th largest state by total area.⁵ With a population of 10 million people and a total energy consumption of 289 million BTUs per capita, Michigan is among the top 10 states in the U.S. in both population and total energy consumption, though the state's total energy use is below the U.S. per capita average.⁶ The majority of Michigan's electric capacity is coordinated by the Midcontinent Independent System Operator (MISO).⁷ Michigan's lower peninsula is in MISO's Zone 7, while the upper peninsula (UP) is in MISO's Zone 2.⁸ The southwestern corner of Michigan is part of the PJM Interconnection electricity system.⁹

1.1 | MICHIGAN'S ELECTRICITY MIX

From 2001 to 2019, coal was Michigan's main source of electricity production, followed by nuclear, and natural gas, with wind, biomass, petroleum, and hydroelectric providing the remainder of the state's electricity production.¹⁰ In 2020, Michigan saw a shift in electricity production when natural gas generated the largest amount of the state's electricity for the first time, supplying 33% of the state's net generation, surpassing coal with 27% of the state's net generation, which fell to third after nuclear power, supplying 29% of the state's net generation (Figure 1).¹¹



RENEWABLE ENERGY POLICY ANALYSIS | STATE OF MICHIGAN

In 2020, renewable energy generated 11% of Michigan's total in-state electricity net generation.¹³ The majority of this generation came from wind, which supplied 60% of Michigan's renewable energy and 6% of the Michigan's total net generation.¹⁴ Michigan ranks among the top 15 states in the country for electricity generated by wind.¹⁵ While wind makes up the majority of Michigan's renewable energy, other sources such as biomass and hydroelectric dams also make up large portions of Michigan's renewable energy portfolio, with biomass accounting for 20% of the state's renewable energy generation.¹⁶ Although solar made up around 4% (.520 GWs) of Michigan's renewable energy generation in 2020, its share of the state's renewable energy mix is expected to grow to 1.801 GWs over the next five years.^{17,18} According to 2019 data, Michigan had a total international import of electricity of a 6,047.749 GWh of electricity and a net interstate import of 0 GWh.¹⁹ Michigan had a total international electricity export of 3,402.327 GWh and a net interstate export of 10,112.733 GWh of electricity.²⁰

Michigan is home to 8 investor-owned utilities (IOUs), 9 rural electric cooperatives, and 41 municipal electric utilities (Figure 2).²¹ The two largest utilities are Consumers Energy and DTE Energy, both of which provide electricity to 1.8 million and 2.2 million customers.^{22,23} The Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) is responsible for electric regulation in the state and has regulatory oversight over 8 IOUs and 9 co-ops (Figure 2).²⁴



Figure 2: Michigan electric service area map²⁵

In 2021, Consumers Energy announced it would retire all its coal-burning power plants by 2025 and DTE also announced a plan to close its coal-burning power plants by 2040.²⁶ Consumers Energy and DTE have both established goals of achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2040 and 2050 respectively.^{27, 28}

1.2 | RENEWABLE ENERGY POTENTIAL

Michigan has vast renewable energy resources, enough to generate several times the state's total electricity demand, which has averaged around 115,000 GWh/year recently.^{29,30} The primary available resources in the state are wind (onshore and offshore) and solar. A 2014 study by the Union of Concerned Scientists (UCS), estimates that the state has the potential to generate 523,374 GWh/year from onshore wind at 100m, after accounting for competing land uses.³¹ For reference, the state generated 6,759 GWh from wind in 2020.³² Offshore wind potential generation is estimated at 1.7 million GWh annually, over 16 times the state's electricity demand.³³ Offshore wind resources remain untapped due to questions about feasibility. Solar potential for rooftop and urban utility-scale projects amounts to over 74,000 GWh/year; if rural area projects are included, the total technical solar generation potential is over 5.2 million GWh/year.³⁴ This is significantly more than Michigan's current solar generation of 325 GWh in

2020.³⁵ Michigan also has bioenergy resources, such as energy crops, agriculture and forest residues, wood wastes, and captured methane, that could generate 11,897 GWh/year.³⁶ Hydropower has the technical potential of 1,181 GWh/year with 133 MW of small-scale hydropower identified as potential development in a U.S. Department of Energy study after accounting for land use and environmental sensitivity.^{37, 38} Should enhanced geothermal energy become more economically feasible in the future, Michigan has a technical potential of 457,850 GWh/year.³⁹

The UCS believes that Michigan can affordably generate 32.5% of its electricity needs with renewable energy by 2030 while maintaining a reliable electricity system, mainly through a strengthening of the renewable energy standard and wind development.⁴⁰ Using NREL's Regional Energy Deployment System (ReEDS) model, the 2030 Case models a 1.5% increase in renewable energy requirements each year. This scenario results in significant economic benefits (\$9.5 billion in new capital investments) with minimal consumer impacts (0.3% increase in electricity prices compared to the baseline), as well as reduced carbon emissions from a more diverse electricity supply.⁴¹ Mark Jacobson laid out a 100% renewable energy system in 2050 for Michigan which is reliant on wind and solar alongside a reduction in end-use demand.⁴² This system would create 242,000 jobs, cut annual energy costs by 62%, and eliminate 89 million tons of CO₂e/year. However, the system would cost nearly \$300 billion to implement, as well as requiring 2% of the state's land.

Although there is significant wind and solar potential in Michigan, not all is accessible. Figures 3, 4, and 5 show the areas of the state with highest average wind speeds at 100 meters.⁴³ These areas are onshore in the thumb along Lake Huron, the center of the Lower Peninsula, areas of the UP along Lake Superior, and offshore in Lakes Huron and Superior.



Figure 3. Average land-based wind speed at 100 meters in Michigan.³⁹



Figure 4. Average wind speed at 100 meters above Lakes Michigan and Superior.³⁹



Figure 5. Average wind speed at 100 meters above Lakes Huron, Erie, and Ontario.³⁹

Figure 6 categorizes the solar potential across the state based on Direct Normal Irradiance (DNI) values from NREL, with the thumb and center of the state once again representing the optimal areas.



state based on NREL DNI values.

Each of these resources is limited by various factors. One of the main factors is land cover (Figure 7). The areas of yellow in the map show the land covers that typically allow for utility-scale wind and solar development, while gray represents developed areas with potential for rooftop solar. The thumb and southern center of the state tend to have compatible land covers for development, which is convenient given those areas have the strongest potential. The heavily forested UP will make accessing the solar resources there difficult.



is palustrine, and grey are developed.

1.3 | LOCAL NARRATIVES OF RENEWABLE ENERGY

Statewide and metropolitan news outlets tend to highlight the importance of renewable energy installations as necessary steps to reach state and national climate goals.⁴⁴ Supporters of renewable energy projects highlight economic impacts these developments will bring. This includes steady income to those who lease or sell their land, and an influx of jobs and tax revenue.⁴⁵

Both statewide and local news outlets acknowledge pushback from many residents of localities where renewable energy developments are proposed to be sited, including potential property value loss, noise pollution, and impacts on migratory bat and bird populations. ⁴⁶ Based on a qualitative study of resident's perceptions of wind turbines in two Michigan townships, 59 of 113 comments were negative in nature with regards to wind energy.⁴⁷ Land owners tended to be more supportive of onshore wind projects than neighbors who did not own land. ⁴⁸

Local opposition has had varying degrees of success combatting renewable energy development, sometimes even blocking it. In 2019, Renewable Energy Systems canceled plans for a 49-turbine wind project in L'Anse Township in Michigan's UP in the face of delays and opposition.⁴⁹ Additionally, Huron County in Michigan's thumb area, one of the state's top two wind resource areas, imposed a moratorium on wind farms in 2015, preempting drawn out local opposition.⁵⁰ This level of opposition is less common for solar development, however, a year-long solar development moratorium was established in 2021 by mid-Michigan Hazleton Township where Ranger Power was scouting for their next project.⁵¹

On the other hand, some Michigan communities are clamoring for RE development. Ann Arbor has plans to power its electric grid with 100% renewable energy by 2030.⁵² Detroit set goals to increase local solar generation to .010 GW by 2029.⁵³ Highland Park is considering a solar ordinance to encourage solar development and beginning to partner with nonprofit Soulardarity who have pushed for solar in the community since 2011.⁵⁴ Traverse City has set goals for 40% renewable energy by 2025 and 100% by 2040.⁵⁵ Grand Rapids also has goals for 100% renewable energy sources for municipal energy use by 2025.⁵⁶

Rooftop solar and net-metering are also contentious topics in Michigan. Electric utilities are only required to purchase 1% of their average in-state peak load from customer-generated power sent back to the grid. ⁵⁷ However, there is currently a bipartisan bill in the works to lift this cap. ⁵⁸ Although Michigan utilities have fought to keep this cap minimum requirement and keep it low, the debate sees much less opposition among local residents. ⁵⁹ Utilities who now support an increase in the cap, but not an elimination, argue the cap is necessary because rooftop solar owners are compensated too generously while other customers are forced to subsidize the purchase of this electricity, particularly low-income ratepayers.⁶⁰

1.5 | ECONOMIC, DEMOGRAPHIC, AND POLITICAL FACTORS

The majority of Michigan's population and industries are located in the state's Lower Peninsula.⁶¹ About half the population lives in southeast Michigan, which is home to a majority of the state's industries and businesses.⁶² While Michigan's heavily forested UP contains 29% of the state's land area, it contains 3% of Michigan's population.⁶³ According to the 2010 Census, Michigan was the only state in the country to see a drop in population over the previous decade, which was largely due to a decline in the state's automobile industry.⁶⁴ According to the 2020 US Census, however, Michigan saw modest population growth between 2010 and 2020, with the majority of growth concentrated in the west Michigan counties of Ottawa (+12.3%) and Kent (+9.2%), and in the southeast Michigan's counties of Washtenaw (+8%), Livingston (+7.1%) and Oakland (+6%).^{65,66} The 2020 Census indicated population declines in other counties, mostly in the UP, including Luce (-19.5%) and Ontonagon (-14.2%) (see Figure 8).⁶⁷



Figure 8. Michigan population trends from 2010-2020. 68

Michigan is well-known for manufacturing automobiles, which accounted for 18.5% of the U.S.'s overall production in 2017.⁶⁹ Manufacturing accounts for 19.3% of Michigan's real GDP, followed by government (10.1%), and healthcare (8.7%).⁷⁰ Michigan is the second most agriculturally diverse state in the US and agriculture contributes \$104.7 billion annually to the Michigan economy.⁷¹ With relatively abundant land, 71.9% of it is privately owned and 28.1% is

publicly owned.⁷² The majority of publicly owned land is located in Michigan's northern-Lower Peninsula and UP.⁷³



Figure 9. Michigan counties with public land. 74

Michigan is considered a 'swing state' that can be won by Democrats or Republicans. Republican strongholds include rural areas of Western and Northern Michigan and the UP, while Democratic strongholds include densely populated urban areas, especially Ann Arbor, Detroit, Flint, Lansing, and Grand Rapids.⁷⁵ With the exception of the 2016 presidential election, Michiganders have voted in support of the Democratic nominee for President since 1992.⁷⁶ In the 2020 presidential election, Joe Biden won Michigan over Donald Trump by 2.8% of the vote.⁷⁷



Figure 10. Michigan presidential election results (2020)⁷⁸

Since 2018, Michigan has been governed by Gretchen Whitmer (D) who won Michigan's gubernatorial race against Bill Schuette (R) by 9.5% of the state vote.⁷⁹ During her campaign, Whitmer ran on a pro-renewable ener platform, saying "I support increased investment in the renewable energy sector of the economy..." and that, "…energy legislation should continue the progress of the state's transition to a clean energy economy."⁸⁰ Whitmer also embraced a goal of 100% renewable energy.⁸¹ Schuette portrayed himself as a moderate on energy issues saying, "I would support a review of Michigan energy policy to provide a mix of nuclear, clean coal, natural gas, renewables and to encourage more [energy] choices…"⁸²

The state's congressional delegation is also split, with one party typically holding a narrow majority. As of February 2022, Michigan's congressional delegation is a 7-7 split of Democrats and Republicans in the U.S. House, and Michigan's two U.S. Senators are both Democrats.⁸³

As of February 2022, Michigan's legislature is currently controlled by Republicans holding 55 out of 110 seats in the Michigan House of Representatives and 22 out of 38 seats in the Michigan Senate.^{84, 85} Republicans typically control both chambers of the state legislature and current redistricting efforts in the state are expected to favor Republicans.⁸⁶ Michigan House Energy Committee Chair, Joe Bellino (R) holds a 47% lifetime scorecard with the Michigan League of Conservation Voters (MLCV) and a mixed voting record when it comes to energy legislation.⁸⁷ Bellino is a proponent of Enbridge's contentious Line 5 pipeline and has recently received criticism from both sides of the political spectrum and Michigan's clean energy industry for refusing to hold a vote on legislation to lift the minimum required purchase of rooftop solar in Michigan.^{88, 89, 90}



Figure 11. Composition of Michigan State House (2019). 91



Figure 12. Composition of the Michigan Senate (2019). 92

The Chair of the Michigan Senate, Dan Lauwers (R) holds a 32% lifetime scorecard with MLCV and a mixed voting record on energy legislation.⁹³ Lauwers is a proponent for energy availability and reliability and supported a 2019 review of Michigan's energy infrastructure.⁹⁴ In 2020, Lauwers also received backlash from both sides of the political isle and Michigan's clean energy industry for failing to take up legislation to lift the minimum required purchase of rooftop solar in Michigan.⁹⁵

2 | POLICY OVERVIEW

2.1 | CLIMATE POLICY

2.1.1 | RENEWABLE PORTFOLIO STANDARD (RPS)

In 2008, the Michigan Legislature enacted the Clean and Renewable Energy and Energy Waste Reduction Act, PA 295 (2008), which required IOUs, municipal utilities, cooperative utilities and retail suppliers to reach the goal of renewable energy, energy efficiency and demand reduction by 10% in 2015.⁹⁶ This act also required certain electric service providers to establish and recover costs for renewable energy programs, establish energy waste reduction programs and create a wind energy resource zone board.⁹⁷ Michigan's two largest power providers, DTE and Consumers Energy, had an additional renewable energy capacity requirement of 500 and 600 MW by 2015, respectively.⁹⁸

In 2015, Senator John Proos introduced the "Clean, Renewable, and Efficient Energy Act" SB 438 (2015) with an aim to amend the PA 295 (2008), which was later approved by Republican Governor Rick Snyder as PA 342 (2016).⁹⁹ This act raised the RPS by 12.5% and 15% by 2019 and 2021 respectively.¹⁰⁰ To continue the reduction of carbon emissions, this act also includes the goal of meeting 28% of the state's electricity needs through energy waste reduction and renewable energy by 2025.¹⁰¹

Despite these successive legislative actions to increase the RPS, there have also been failed attempts – both through ballot initiatives and within the legislature. One such example is the 2018 "NextGen America" campaign funded by billionaire Tom Steyer. ¹⁰² The purpose of the campaign was to push a ballot initiative that would require utilities to get 30% of their energy from renewable energy sources by 2030.¹⁰³ As a result of pushback from the utilities, a compromise was struck with the organizers of the campaign for the utilities to voluntarily commit to getting 25% of their energy from RPS by 2030 and another 25% from reductions in energy use, and the ballot initiative failed in 2018 as it did not get enough signatures. ¹⁰⁴ As a result, the issue was not put before voters.¹⁰⁵

In 2020, Democrats in the State House and Senate introduced bills intended to increase the RPS to 100% by 2050; however, these bills faced resistance from the Republicans.¹⁰⁶ One of the bills, HB 5420, was subsequently reintroduced in 2020 by Democrat Yousef Rabhi and has

twenty-nine co-sponsors, as compared to one co-sponsor when it was initially introduced in 2018.¹⁰⁷ Even though the goal of 100% is aggressive, the Michigan Environmental Council (MEC) strongly supports the 100% requirement. In an interview, Charlotte Jameson, MEC's program director for legislative affairs, drinking water, and energy, emphasized the need to reach carbon neutrality by 2050 and cited the power sector as low hanging fruit. ¹⁰⁸

2.1.2 | IMPACT ON RENEWABLE ENERGY DEPLOYMENT

The RPS has helped increase the deployment of renewables in Michigan. Most of Michigan's electric service providers were able to meet the RPS and retired a total of 12,812,152 RECs in 2019. Wind energy has been the most used source to fulfill the supply of renewable energy.¹⁰⁹ Since the adoption of RPS policy, Michigan has seen a decline in the cost of deploying renewable energy technologies, which has impacted the cost of electricity and the projects themselves in a positive way.¹¹⁰ The average cost of all new renewable electricity facilities used to meet the standard is \$78.39 per megawatt-hour (MWh), which is less than utilities' forecasts.¹¹¹

In addition to the reduced cost of renewable technologies, Michigan's RPS is also driving investment and economic benefits in the local communities. Renewable energy projects including wind, solar, and energy storage have invested \$5 billion into Michigan's economy and produced another \$35.2 million in land-lease payments to property owners.¹¹² These investments not only support the construction and installation of renewable energy but also provide jobs, create tax revenues, and provide land-lease payments to rural landowners.

2.1.3 | EXECUTIVE ACTION

In 2019, Governor Gretchen Whitmer signed EO 2019-06 that created the Department of Great Lakes, Environment and Energy (EGLE), which is responsible for energy and climate

related issues. ¹¹³ This department reorganized government agencies to put energy and environmental functions within the same department. ¹¹⁴ EGLE is critical in promoting lead-byexample sustainability initiatives within state agencies, coordinating the cabinet-wide Climate and Sustainability workgroup, and refining agency-wide approach for the climate efforts and energy efficiency.¹¹⁵ This executive order was followed by the announcement of Michigan joining the United States Climate Alliance, a bipartisan coalition of governors from 25 states working towards the goals of Paris Agreement despite the withdrawal of the U.S. federal government from the agreement.¹¹⁶ As a result, Michigan committed to achieve at least 26-28% carbon emission reduction by 2025.¹¹⁷ Recently, Gov. Whitmer signed ED 2020-10 that set the goal of 100% economic decarbonization in Michigan by 2050.¹¹⁸

Furthermore, ED 2020-10 tasked EGLE to develop a plan to achieve the goal of 100% economic decarbonization in Michigan by 2050.¹¹⁹ As a result, EGLE has awarded \$412,000 to Lawrence Technological University and University of Michigan – Economic Growth Institute to develop the clean energy asset roadmap.¹²⁰ Gov. Whitmer has also launched two initiatives to advance Michigan's electric vehicle (EV) infrastructure and workforce landscape: The Lake Michigan EV Circuit and The Michigan Revolution for Electrification of Vehicles Academy/Academies (MiREV).¹²¹

Gov. Whitmer was not the first governor to address renewable energy policy through executive action. Gov. Jennifer Granholm, the first woman elected as a governor of Michigan and current Secretary of the US Department of Energy, pushed for clean energy reforms during her terms as well.¹²² One such example is the Midwestern Greenhouse Gas Reduction Accord (MGGRA), which was signed on November 15, 2007.¹²³ This regional agreement was signed by six governors of states in the US Midwest (members of the Midwestern Governors Association –

MGA) and the premier of one Canadian province with an aim to reduce greenhouse gas emissions through a cap-and-trade program.¹²⁴ In 2010, MGGRA presented guidelines to MGA which were supposed to be implemented in 2012, however, the accord has been inactive since then.¹²⁵ In light of a "blue wave" of Midwest governors taking office in 2018, Dr. Barry Rabe at the University of Michigan emphasized the importance of Midwestern governors committing to accelerate the energy transition in terms of renewable energy resources that do not necessarily adhere to state boundaries.¹²⁶

2.2 | TAXATION OF RENEWABLES

2.2.1 | WIND TAX POLICY

Utility-scale wind farms in Michigan are classified as personal property per Section 211.8 of the General Property Tax Act.¹²⁷ The first tax table for wind systems was created in 2007 by the Michigan State Tax Commission (STC).¹²⁸ The initial depreciation table was ad valorem, taxing the turbine at 5% depreciation annually over the first 15 years, then constant at 30% for the next 15 years.¹²⁹ The table was then amended in 2011 to start at 80% and decline to 30% in seventh year.¹³⁰ Due to the loss of potential tax income caused by this change, several counties formed the Michigan Renewable Energy Collaborative (MREC) to challenge what was viewed as "an arbitrary and costly change" in tax collections.¹³¹ In 2014, the table was again amended to the current structure, shown in Figure 13.



amended in 2014.

MREC commissioned Appraisal Economic Inc. who created a data-driven, conservative multiplier table, which many local assessors use, resulting in 1,109 tax appeal cases from utilities and developers since 2012.¹³² In June 2021, the STC ruled in favor of utilities, potentially costing local governments millions of dollars in past and future revenue, as they may be responsible to repay past overpayments.¹³³ This decision, regarding Huron County and DTE, has recently been appealed.¹³⁴

This uncertainty in tax responsibilities has likely led to some hindrance of development, as developers tend to favor certainty regarding taxes.¹³⁵ However, the net generation of wind energy in Michigan has steadily increased since 2007 when the first multiplier table was introduced (Figure 14), which reflects that both sides are still interested in wind development regardless of the jumbled tax situation.¹³⁶ Development has likely been affected more by NIMBY ism than tax uncertainty.





Figure 14. Net generation of wind energy in Michigan since 2000.9

The decision of the tax commission to side with utilities will likely agitate local governments that may suddenly be responsible for millions of dollars, but given that the decision will undergo an appeal, the final outcome will not be decided for years. Some counties may have available funds to provide the tax refunds, while others may have to draw money from other programs and areas. Should Huron County be forced to pay back tax revenues, services that rely on wind energy taxes, including Thumb Area Transit, Huron Intermediate School District, the Huron County Road Commission, the senior citizen's millage, and the veteran's millage, would all be affected.¹³⁷ Tax refunds are not certain as the lawsuits could be settled outside of court as well.

Because of the litigation situation, MREC is pushing for the issue to be resolved in the state legislature, which could be one way to help settle the litigation.¹³⁸ Two bills, introduced in April 2021 and September 2021 in the State Senate (SB 441) and House (HB 5326) by State Sen. Kevin Daley (R) and State Rep. Pat Outman (R) respectively, would set a standard depreciation table across the state.¹³⁹ The structure mirrors the original 2007 STC table, but with the 30% after 15 years applying until the turbine is removed rather than just the next 15 years.¹⁴⁰ Created with the help of MREC, this structure is likely appealing to local governments as it will increase local property tax revenues.

2.2.2 | SOLAR TAX POLICY

Small-scale alternative energy systems, such as residential solar, valued at less than \$80,000 can receive property tax exemptions through three 2019 bills: HB 4465, HB 4069, and SB 47, ultimately combined into PA 116 (2019). The systems must meet certain conditions, including generating all or some of the property's energy use and generating less than 150 kW.¹⁴¹ The exemptions have wide support for fixing the confusing patchwork of local tax structures for rooftop solar and removing a potential disincentive to install rooftop solar.¹⁴²

Utility-scale solar energy in Michigan lacks a tax table such as that seen with wind energy. It has been taxed ad valorem, based on installation location tax rates, resulting in wildly varying taxes per MW per year.¹⁴³ In the past year, there have been several legislative actions regarding solar. A payment-in-lieu-of-taxes (PILOT) program was proposed and passed the legislature in the fall of 2020 as SB 1105/1106 (2020).¹⁴⁴ However, local governments wrote Gov. Whitmer claiming that the program ran counter to local control and lacks protections.¹⁴⁵ In December 2020, Whitmer vetoed the bills due to concerns of local governments being left out while instructing the STC to review the current treatment.¹⁴⁶ In the summer of 2021, the STC provided new guidance on solar energy that would increase ad valorem, but also complicate the predictability.¹⁴⁷ A new bill regarding solar taxation is also expected to be introduced soon, but there are no details available on its contents as of October 2021.

2.3 | SITING AUTHORITY

In Michigan, land use and siting permits for RE facilities are granted by local governments (cities, counties, and townships) and their respective zoning ordinances.¹⁴⁸ In the event that permits for renewable energy projects are granted by a state body, such projects remain subject to local authority.¹⁴⁹ Townships may choose to assume siting and regulatory

authority for renewable energy systems, but if a township has not assumed authority, the county in which the township is located may assume authority.¹⁵⁰

Renewable energy facilities are subject to local land use controls; therefore, developers must acquire zoning or permits from the local government in which a proposed project is located.¹⁵¹ If neither a township nor a county has assumed zoning authority for a renewable energy facility, a land use permit is not required.¹⁵² Residents of jurisdictions within which renewable energy systems are proposed can provide public comments regarding their developments through local zoning hearings.¹⁵³

Michigan's structure for siting authority is a product of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA), PA 110 (2006), which uniformly grants siting and permitting authorities to local governments by repealing the Township Zoning Act, the City and Village Zoning Act, and the County Zoning Act (Figure 15).¹⁵⁴ The MZEA was signed by Gov. Granholm on April 7, 2006 and went into effect July 1, 2006.¹⁵⁵ Though the MZEA was amended in 2008, the amendment, PA 12 (2008) only included minor changes and had no impact on Michigan renewable energy siting and permitting authority.¹⁵⁶ There have been no other changes to MZEA since and there are no known initiatives to make further amendments to MZEA.

While there are no known initiatives to amend MZEA, in October 2021, the Michigan Council of Climate Solutions: Energy Production, Transmission, Distribution, and Storage Workgroup developed five recommendations to be included in Gov. Whitmer's MI Healthy Climate Plan.¹⁵⁷ One of these recommendations is to "facilitate siting of necessary energy infrastructure" by adopting "state policies and programs that will facilitate siting of necessary renewable generation, storage, and transmission sufficient to achieve a clean energy transition of the electric power sector."¹⁵⁸ As of this writing, November 2021, this proposal remains solely a

recommendation for the Michigan Climate Council's consideration and the Council may adopt, reject, or modify any recommendations proposed by workgroups. That said, the recommendation may ultimately have implications for renewable energy siting in the future.



Figure 15. Zoning Jurisdiction in the State of Michigan. 159

In addition to authorizing local governments the power to create zoning ordinances that regulate land use, the MZEA also requires that jurisdictions create a Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA), which may establish rules to govern its zoning procedures. ¹⁶⁰ Ruling decisions of ZBAs are final, meaning that the losing party seeking a land use permit has no further recourse at the municipal level. ¹⁶¹ However, a losing party can still challenge a ZBA decision by appealing to a local Circuit Court.¹⁶²

According to the Michigan Zoning Database, "of the 1,856 jurisdictions in the state, around half have already given consideration to clean energy (wind energy, solar energy, or electric vehicle infrastructure) in their zoning ordinances, and that number continues to grow" (see Figures 16 and 17).¹⁶³

Jurisdiction Zoning Authority Totals								
Jurisdiction	Total	County Zoning	City Zoning	Township Zoning	Village Zoning	Joint Zoning	Unzoned	No Data
Township	1241	210	0	875	0	20	126	10
City	280	1	277	0	0	1	0	1
Village	252	5	0	4	203	1	26	13
Total	1773	216	277	879	203	22	152	24

Figure 16. Michigan Jurisdiction Zoning Authorities. ¹⁶⁴

Jurisdiction	Total	Utility Wind	Small-Scale Wind	Utility Solar	Small-Scale Solar	Electric Vehicles
Township	1241	680	757	361	380	14
City	280	82	120	39	95	20
Village	252	48	66	23	37	2
Total	1773	810	943	423	512	36

Figure 17. Michigan Jurisdiction's Consideration of Renewable Energy in Zoning Ordinances. ¹⁶⁵

Since Michigan authorizes its local governments to oversee their own permitting and siting practices, there is a lack of uniformity in ordinances concerning renewable energy facilities.¹⁶⁶ Without standard and uniform siting and permitting practices across local governments, this can result in a lack of confidence amongst renewable energy developers, as well as more potential roadblocks and inefficiencies that can hinder the procurement of renewable energy.¹⁶⁷ As shown in Figure 17, for example, roughly half of Michigan jurisdictions have considered wind energy in their zoning ordinances, and roughly one-third of jurisdictions have considered solar.¹⁶⁸

2.3.1 | WIND ENERGY SITING AND PERMITTING

In Michigan, the siting and land use permitting for wind energy development falls under the jurisdiction of local governments through their respective zoning authorities.¹⁶⁹ Subsequently, communities across Michigan have developed local ordinances regulating wind energy, with some variations in standards, restrictions, and requirements.¹⁷⁰ While Michigan state agencies do not have authority in issuing permits for wind energy systems, there have been efforts to develop wind siting guidelines dating as far back as 2002.¹⁷¹ In 2008, the Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Growth, in partnership with the Michigan Wind Working Group, developed a sample zoning resource, which included recommended zoning language for local government's wind siting considerations.^{172,173} Since its inception, the sample zoning ordinance has periodically been revised with, according to the sample zoning resource, "the intent of striking a balance between the need for clean, renewable energy and the necessity to protect the public health, safety, and welfare [of communities in Michigan]."¹⁷⁴

In 2017, Michigan State University (MSU) Extension revised this sample zoning ordinance with updated recommendations to address topics such as noise, shadow flicker, and zoning language.¹⁷⁵ The sample zoning ordinance was last updated in October 2020 and included additional information regarding new technological advances around wind energy and new research on wind energy regulation from communities in Michigan, other U.S. states, Canada, and Europe.¹⁷⁶ While the sample zoning ordinance offers a range of resources for local governments to consider when amending or developing wind energy ordinances, the sample zoning ordinance notes that because of Michigan's land use patterns, average parcel sizes, various dwelling densities amongst communities, major transmission lines, natural features, and community's unique grid-like road networks, "making a one-size-fits-all recommendation [is] impractical."¹⁷⁷

As referenced in Figure 17, out of the 1,773 jurisdictions researched by Michigan EGLE and Graham Sustainability Institute, 810 jurisdictions have considered utility-scale wind, and 943 have considered small-scale wind.¹⁷⁸



Figure 18. Wind energy zoning in the State of Michigan. 179

2.3.2 | SOLAR ENERGY SITING AND PERMITTING

Like wind development, siting and permitting authority for solar development also resides at the local level and their respective zoning ordinances.¹⁸⁰ As referenced in Figure 17, of the 1,773 jurisdictions researched by Michigan EGLE and Graham Sustainability Institute, 425 jurisdictions have considered utility-scale solar, and 512 have considered small-scale solar.¹⁸¹



Figure 19. Solar Energy Zoning in the State of Michigan. 182

Currently, there is no analogous effort for a state-sanctioned solar zoning resource. However, in October 2021, MSU Extension, in partnership with MSU School of Planning, Design and Construction, and the University of Michigan Graham Suitability Institute, released a sample solar zoning guide for local governments.¹⁸³ This new resource, which illustrates how various scales and configurations of solar energy systems fit into general landscape patterns for rural, suburban, and urban areas, is intended "to help Michigan communities meet the challenge of becoming solar-ready by offering best practice guidance for addressing solar energy systems within their planning policies and zoning regulations."^{184, 185} The sample zoning guide presents the current context for solar in Michigan and provides principles for how various sized and scaled solar energy systems may fit within various land-use patterns across the state (e.g. farmland, brownfields/grayfields, and historic/culturally significant sites), as well as sample language for community's zoning ordinances.¹⁸⁶

2.4 | INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT

Michigan is part of the Midcontinent Independent System Operator (MISO). ¹⁸⁷ The organization is responsible for operating the power grid of 15 states, providing an open-access transmission service and monitoring the high-voltage transmission system. ¹⁸⁸ The transmission network in Michigan is aging and most of the state faces serious congestion (see Figure 20). ¹⁸⁹



GRID CONGESTION IN MISO NORTH

Figure 20. Grid congestion in the MISO region.²¹

This congestion creates problems for the development of new renewable energy projects, as transmission lines struggle to move power from the locations of high resources to other areas of the state. Renewable energy developers claim that transmission constraints are among the largest barriers to renewable energy development.¹⁹⁰ Investment into the network today will be

vital for meeting future clean energy goals, as projects take time to develop and implement and remain in place for decades.

The majority of transmission lines in Michigan are owned and operated by three companies.¹⁹¹ ITC Michigan owns the majority of the network in the Lower Peninsula, with AEP Transmission owning the southwest corner of the state.¹⁹² The Upper Peninsula network is owned by ATC.¹⁹³ As a result of this ownership of the transmission network, these companies are the key players in infrastructure investment. In MISO's Transmission Expansion Plan 2020 (MTEP20), the operator recommended approval of 515 projects valued at \$4 billion of investment.¹⁹⁴ In Michigan, there were 83 projects valued at \$436 million (Figure 21).¹⁹⁵

Planning Highlights in Michigan



Data available on https://www.misoenergy.org/planning/planning/mtep20/ > Appendices Tab

Figure 21. Breakdown of projects located in Michigan that were recommended in MTEP20.²⁵

Each transmission operator has projects listed on its respective website. AEP Transmission shows 10 projects, mainly revolving around replacing, updating, and rebuilding transmission lines.¹⁹⁶ ATC shows one current project, which is replacing the Straits of Mackinac cables that connect the Lower and Upper Peninsulas.¹⁹⁷ ITC Michigan shows 40 projects, including line rebuilds and upgrades, new lines, and new substations.¹⁹⁸ These projects tie into Consumers Energy's and DTE's five-year \$7 billion plans, which are heavily weighted toward replacing equipment nearing the end of its life.¹⁹⁹ When planning these projects, PA 30 (1995) grants siting authority to the MPSC, from whom developers must obtain a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity, when the lines are over 5 miles and carry electricity at 345 kV.²⁰⁰ This varies from the siting authority of wind and solar generation, which resides at the local level. Eminent domain may be used when siting transmission lines, and a certificate is conclusive and binding in those cases.²⁰¹ One-time payments are made to the landowners when constructing transmission lines. The lines are subject to property taxes as well which contributes to the local economy.²⁰²

One of the major projects ITC has conducted in recent years is the Thumb Loop, shown in Figure 22.²⁰³ This \$510 million, 345 kV line runs through the thumb of Michigan's Lower Peninsula, connecting Tuscola, Huron, Sanilac, and St. Clair counties.²⁰⁴ Michigan's Clean, Renewable and Efficient Energy Act, PA 295 (2008), created the Wind Energy Resource Zone Board to study and identify regions with the highest wind potential.²⁰⁵



Transmission.³²

The Thumb Loop was a result of this study, identifying the region as the highest wind potential in the state, a result of the high wind speeds in the area and compatible land use, as discussed in Section 1.2.²⁰⁶ Following the results of the study, ITC applied to the MPSC for

expedited siting approval in 2010, which was granted in 2011.²⁰⁷ The project was constructed in phases and electrified in 2015.²⁰⁸ The 140 miles of line and four substations are capable of supporting 5,000 MW of energy, enough to carry the region's 4,236 MW of maximum potential identified in the study.²⁰⁹ The loop is currently supporting around 1,600 MW of energy, with many more projects approved to provide energy to the line.²¹⁰ However, projects in the region have also been stifled by local opposition, as well as limited by a Huron County moratorium on wind farms.^{211, 212} Much of the state's renewable energy potential, as discussed in Section 1.2, is in conservative counties in the middle of the state and Thumb region which likely contributes to the local opposition seen in these areas. The high capacity of the line is designed to allow for certainty of transmission support for renewable energy developers when planning projects in the Thumb region. The project was funded by ratepayers across MISO's 13 states; the average residential customer was estimated to see an additional cost on their annual bill of \$1.10 per year.²¹³ The ITC estimates the project contributed \$366 million to the Michigan economy.²¹⁴

In 2019, Gov. Whitmer launched MI Power Grid, aimed at maximizing the benefits of the transition to clean, distributed energy resources for Michigan residents and businesses.²¹⁵ The initiative will gather information into a central location, reach out to stakeholders to integrate clean technologies and optimize investments in Michigan's grid, and ensure the transition is reliable and affordable.²¹⁶ While the MI Power Grid initiative's final report detailing its achievements isn't expected until October 2022, in October 2021, as part of MI Power Grid, ITC released a host capacity analysis of its transmission network, a study requested by the MPSC with the goal of helping map where new sources of electricity generation could locate most affordably.²¹⁷ The study identifies the lines in several regions of the Lower Peninsula that can

support the addition of renewable energy, as well as providing a resource to direct infrastructure investment.²¹⁸



Figure 23. Regions examined in ITC hosting capacity analysis.⁴⁶

The South, Central, and Wayne regions (seen in Figure 23) are key regions identified in the study that can support an affordable expansion of renewable energy, likely a result of population centers creating overbuilt infrastructure.²¹⁹ These regions also have relatively high resource potential and compatible land use, as seen in Section 1.2. These factors combine to create the optimal locations for the expansion of renewable energy. These areas also tend to be the more liberal areas of the state (see Figure 10) and thus more likely to be accepting of increased renewable energy deployment. As siting for generation assets occurs at the local level, the state lacks the ability to increase generation assets in these capacity-ready areas. Instead, local governments will have to approve the projects that may want the easy access to the grid these regions can provide, potentially increasing the negative effects local resistance can have which could force projects to be developed and connect in areas where expensive grid upgrades would be needed.

2.5 | RENEWABLE ENERGY ON PUBLIC LANDS

Public lands have the potential to play a major role in supporting the development of renewable energy. In Michigan, 28.1% of land is publicly owned, though it is not yet being utilized for renewable energy development.²²⁰ However, since Gov. Whitmer's pledge to make Michigan carbon-neutral by 2050, the state is reconsidering its use of public lands, including the possibility of utilizing public lands to house renewable energy facilities.²²¹

In response to Gov. Whitmer's carbon neutrality goal and her commitment to power all state facilities with renewable energy by 2025, in July 2021, the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (DNR) released its Public Land Strategy (PLS) for 2021-2027, which was developed over the course of 18 months through a collaborative process between public and private stakeholders.^{222,223} The latest PLS outlines that "the sustainable management of Michigan's natural resource assets will play a significant role as the world continues to mitigate climate change and shift toward renewable energy sources."²²⁴

In its PLS, the DNR outlines the strategy of "assess[ing] the potential for locating utilityscale solar energy on DNR-managed public lands that have been degraded by past industrial use."²²⁵ To achieve this, the PLS identifies developing a "comprehensive inventory of DNRmanaged public lands that contain brownfields, postindustrial sites, or are otherwise degraded, marginal lands and market them for potential renewable energy development," in which identified lands will be measured by their total renewable energy production capacity.²²⁶

While the state and DNR have identified and are strategizing the use of public lands as sites of renewable energy between 2021-2027, the PLS awaits implementation following the consideration and approval of the Michigan Legislature.²²⁷ The PLS, HB 5388 (2021) introduced by Rep. Gary Howell and six other lawmakers, was introduced before the Michigan House of

Representatives on October 2021 and is on its second reading in the Committee on Natural Resources and Outdoor Recreation, as of November 2021.²²⁸ Although initiatives to utilize public lands are still getting off the ground in Michigan, actions and proposals such as these may be setting the stage for the state to support more renewable energy deployment across its assets.

The utilization of public lands for the development of renewable energy facilities, however, was not included in any of the Council on Climate Solutions Workgroup recommendations that have so far provided their recommendations to EGLE and Gov. Whitmer (including the Energy Production, Transmission, Distribution, and Storage Workgroup).²²⁹ As of this writing, the Council on Climate Solutions awaits the recommendations of the Natural Working Lands and Forest Products Workgroup.²³⁰

While the state navigates the potential for renewable energy on public lands, it has in the meantime developed creative public-private initiatives to develop renewable energy on other public asset lands, such as former mining sites in Dickinson and Crawford Counties that were acquired by the state through tax reversion.^{231,232} Other initiatives were also included a June 2019 decision to permit farmland enrolled in Michigan's Farmland and Open Space Preservation program, PA 116 (2019), to house commercial solar projects.²³³ While these are not examples of the state utilizing its public lands for siting renewable energy facilities, creative initiatives such as these are worth noting to highlight how the state is utilizing its land assets to support renewable energy.

2.6 | THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION (MPSC)

The MPSC is the branch of state government responsible for regulating natural gas, electricity, and telecommunications industries.^{234,235} The MPSC holds the power and jurisdiction to regulate public utilities' spending and earning, requiring approval to implement proposed

changes to rates, fees, charges, refunds, services, operations, etc.²³⁶ The three-member board has regulatory oversight over eight IOUs and nine co-ops, as discussed in Section 1.1.^{237, 238} Commissioners are appointed by the governor, with staggered 6-year terms and no more than two members representing the same political party. ²³⁹ The MPSC has a stated mission "to serve the public by ensuring safe, reliable, and accessible energy and telecommunications services at reasonable rates" and vision to "be a best-in-class commission by: making well-informed decisions at every level of the organization, meaningfully engaging the public, [and] enabling innovation for the future."²⁴⁰

2.6.1 | INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLANNING (IRP)

PA 342 (2016) instituted the integrated resource planning (IRP) process for regulated energy providers to "examine options to meet long-term electricity needs considering reliability, cost, performance, environmental impact, and other considerations" which the MPSC would oversee.²⁴¹ In 2017, the MPSC set modeling parameters and assumptions for IRPs, which regulated utilities were required to submit to the MPSC for review and approval, and every five years thereafter.²⁴²

The MPSC issued final orders on utilities' initial IRPs in 2020. ²⁴³ The MPSC's 2020 annual report highlights a common theme of continued transition from coal-fired electric generation to renewable energy and energy waste reduction across IRPs. ²⁴⁴ They suggest the drivers of this transition include "aging infrastructure, environmental regulations, economics, customer demand for cleaner energy, and voluntary utility company carbon reduction goals." ²⁴⁵ Through the IRP process, the MPSC predicts significant growth in renewable energy and energy waste reduction - up to 35% of Michigan's generation mix by 2025 (see Figure 24).²⁴⁶



Figure 24. Michigan Energy Generation Mix per IRPs²⁴⁷

This policy appears to support renewable energy deployment by encouraging utilities to make market-based decisions by forcing energy providers to justify investments in fossil fuels as well as account for the costs and benefits of renewable energy and waste reduction programs.²⁴⁸ Renewable energy advocates believe the IRP process pushes utilities to bolder clean energy targets than they would plan for on their own, although there is still room for improvement.²⁴⁹ Advocacy groups widely criticized initial IRP plans, particularly that of DTE, which was ultimately ordered change requirements by the MPSC.²⁵⁰

The MPSC also sees room for improvement in the fledgling IRP process. In response to Gov. Whitmer's ED 2020-10, which sets a goal for 28% reduction in economy wide carbon emissions compared to 2005 historical levels, as discussed in Section 2.1.3, MPSC staff released a report detailing two options for integrating this goal into the IRP process.²⁵¹ As part of the MI Power Grid initiative, outlined in Section 2.6.5, the MPSC will begin a stakeholder engagement process for updating IRP guidelines and parameters in December 2021, including integrating statewide emissions reduction goals.²⁵²

2.6.2 | RENEWABLE ENERGY PLAN CASES

Michigan's 2008 Clean, Renewable and Efficient Energy Act, PA 295, established a 10% RPS, as discussed in Section 2.1.1.²⁵³ It also required regulated utilities to develop renewable energy plans and file biennially to the MPSC for review. ²⁵⁴ These plans describe how each electric provider will meet the renewable energy standard requirements.²⁵⁵ For electric providers

whose rates are regulated by the MPSC, the MPSC conducts a contested case hearing following the administrative procedures act of 1969, PA 306 (1969), and approves or rejects the plan.²⁵⁶ For all other electric providers, the MSPC provides an opportunity for public comment and approves or rejects the plan.²⁵⁷

PA 342 (2016) amended PA 295 (2008), increasing the RPS from 10% in 2015 to 15% in 2021, and no longer requiring biennial renewable energy plan filings.^{258, 259} In 2017, the MPSC established new filing requirements for renewable energy plans in Case No. U-18409.^{260,261} In the same case, the MPSC agreed with points brought by the NRDC that "eventually, a provider's IRP will serve as the broad planning tool that encompasses not only renewable energy but also demand response, EWR and other demand and supply-side resources. Accordingly, the Commission expects that in the future, once IRP proceedings are completed, the filing requirements will include a description of how the REP correlates with the approved IRP."²⁶²

2.6.3 | GREEN PRICING PROGRAMS

Section 460.1061 of PA 295 (2008), as amended by PA 342 (2016), requires electric providers to offer customers the option to participate in voluntary green pricing programs.²⁶³ In these programs, customers may specify the amount of their electricity use that will be provided by renewable energy and are responsible for any additional cost (or savings) realized by the electric provider as a result of participation in the program.²⁶⁴ Utilities regulated by the MPSC must file their voluntary green pricing programs for review and approval by the MPSC every two years.²⁶⁵ However, municipal utilities, cooperative utilities, and alternative electric suppliers are not required to go through this approval process.²⁶⁶ There have not been major changes to this policy since enacted in 2016 and there are no proposed changes at of the time of this writing.

This policy appears to encourage and facilitate the deployment of renewable energy in Michigan.²⁶⁷ However, early iterations of voluntary green pricing programs in Michigan received criticism from renewable energy advocates.²⁶⁸ For example, Consumers Energy's 2017 proposed program that limited options to wind, and set prices above market rates.²⁶⁹ In June of 2021, the MPSC formally ruled on a case brought by the City of Ann Arbor that contested DTE's voluntary green pricing program, MIGreenPower, set prices too high.²⁷⁰ The settlement included changes to MIGreenPower to lower program costs for and simplify enrollment options.²⁷¹ Despite these challenges, voluntary green pricing programs are expected to expand in the coming years as demand grows from residential, commercial, and industrial consumers.²⁷²

2.6.4 | PUBLIC UTILITY REGULATORY POLICIES ACT (PURPA) AVOIDED COST REVIEW

In 1978, PURPA was enacted at the federal level "in response to an energy crisis to encourage competition, conservation, reliability and efficiency in generating and delivering electricity."²⁷³ In each state, it is implemented by public utility commissions for regulated electric utilities such as the MPSC in Michigan.²⁷⁴

As required by Section 6v of PA 342 (2016), the MPSC issued its second report on the implementation of PURPA in 2020, defining a class of electric generating facilities known as qualifying facilities (QFs), independent power producers smaller than 20MW that produce from largely renewable energy sources, from which utilities are required to purchase power.²⁷⁵ The compensation rate varies by utility, and is based on the "avoided cost," how much it would cost a utility to generate the power itself or purchase from another source.²⁷⁶ PA 342 (2016) requires the MSPC to determine this avoided cost rate and review it at least every five years.²⁷⁷ An

MPSC review process is set out in PA 342 (2016), and several utilities have been instructed to include a PURPA review in their biennial IRP filing.²⁷⁸

MPSC PURPA rulings have been dubbed a mixed bag by renewable energy advocates in Michigan.²⁷⁹ They suggest that utilities are dragging their feet on approving QFs, and utilities suggest that PURPA projects are overwhelming their pipeline, forcing them to pay more for renewable energy they do not need at higher rates than they would pay in the market.²⁸⁰ A 2019 MPSC settlement directed Consumers Energy to triple their purchase of interconnected solar capacity through PURPA, ending a years long disagreement but leaving uncertainty for future opportunities.²⁸¹

While PURPA avoided cost rates can be valuable for existing developments whose contracts have expired and have acted as a stable source of income for renewable energy development in the past, they are now significantly lower than rates through PPA negotiated contracts. ²⁸² When paired with favorable policies and lower cost of renewable energy, PURPA avoided cost rates are no longer a major driver of renewable energy development in Michigan. ²⁸³

2.6.5 | MI POWER GRID INITIATIVE

As discussed in Section 2.4, in 2019, the MPSC launched the MI Power Grid initiative, a multi-year stakeholder initiative focused on maximizing "the benefits of the transition to clean, distributed energy resources for Michigan residents and businesses." ²⁸⁴ Each of the MPSC's commissioners leads one of the three workgroups of MI Power Grid; (1) customer engagement, (2) integrating emerging technologies, and (3) optimizing grid investments in performance.²⁸⁵ See Appendix A for a detailed overview of the MI Power Grid initiative areas of emphasis and work groups.²⁸⁶

Each workgroup is formed and led by MPSC staff to facilitate discussion and educational sessions for stakeholders including utilities, energy technology companies, customers, consumer advocates, state agencies, and more.²⁸⁷ The outcomes of this initiative will be seen in new clean energy programs and rates, changes to energy infrastructure planning, and updated customer service and reliability regulations.²⁸⁸

Parts of the MI Power Grid initiative will support renewable energy deployment in Michigan. For example, ITC Michigan recently published a study, at the request of the MPSC, outlining where there is capacity for interconnection with high-voltage transmission lines for new sources of power generation.²⁸⁹ The MPSC has since directed regulated electric utilities to file similar maps in their distribution plans in Case U-20147.²⁹⁰ This initiative has also created structure for new energy programs and technology pilots.²⁹¹ Through Case U-2064, the MPSC developed definitions, defined objectives, and created a streamlined review processes for pilot programs in Michigan, and developed a pilot directory to improve transparency to stakeholders and ratepayers.²⁹² The MPSC released its latest MI Power Grid status report in September 2021, will kick off the third and final phase in early 2022, and expects to release the final overview of actions for MI Power Grid in Q3 of 2022.²⁹³

2.6.6 | DISTRIBUTED GENERATION PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION

Distributed generation programs in Michigan are overseen by the MPSC.²⁹⁴ Under Section 173 of PA 342 (2016), these programs follow an inflow/outflow tariff mechanism and utilities can limit participation to 1% of their average in-state peak load for the preceding five years.²⁹⁵ Half of the 1% limit is allocated to residential-sized systems under 20 kW, and the other half for projects larger than 20 kW.²⁹⁶ Prior to 2016, under PA 295 (2008), Michigan had a net metering policy where customers received a credit at the full retail rate from electricity delivered to the grid during the billing month. ²⁹⁷ However, as part of PA 342 (2016), the MPSC was directed to conduct a distributed generation study and develop an equitable cost of service based distributed generation tariff to replace Michigan's net metering program by April 2018.²⁹⁸ In July of 2017, the MPSC issued an order to continue net metering as the interim distributed generation program until new program tariffs are approved in rate cases with each utility. ²⁹⁹

MPSC staff convened a Distributed Generation Workgroup seven times to gather input on how to calculate cost of service for distributed generation and the proposed inflow/outflow tariff.³⁰⁰ This process culminated in publishing the Report on the MPSC Staff Study to Develop a Cost of Service-Based Distributed Generation Program Tariff in 2018.³⁰¹ This report proposed an inflow/outflow tariff mechanism, where distributed generation customers pay for all inflow electricity delivered by the utility according to their regular cost of service and outflow electricity receives a credit at a lower rate than the inflow rate.³⁰² In Case U-18383, the MPSC adopted inflow/outflow tariff that regulated electric utilities are expected to submit in any rate case filed after June 1, 2018.³⁰³ Additionally, this order permits utilities to file their own distributed generation tariff for approval.³⁰⁴

According to the MPSC's 2020 Distributed Generation Report, Consumers Energy, DTE Electric Company, Indiana Michigan Power Company, and Upper Peninsula Power Company have Commission-approved inflow/outflow tariffs for distributed generation. ³⁰⁵ Alpena Power Company and Northern States Power Company both had rate cases in progress for their proposed distributed generation inflow/outflow tariffs. ³⁰⁶ Two Michigan utilities voluntarily agreed to

increase their participation cap above the required 1%, Consumers Energy to 2% and Upper Peninsula Power Company to 3%.³⁰⁷

Advocates for RE broadly agree that both the move away from net metering and the 1% minimum required purchase policies hinder the deployment of distributed generation projects in Michigan.³⁰⁸ Despite these limitations set out in 2016, the number of distributed generation program customers continues to grow with 10,553 customers as of 2020 a significant increase from 11 in 2006 (see Figure 25).³⁰⁹



There are two proposals that would significantly change Michigan's policy is related to distributed generation. The first is HB 4236 (2021), which would amend Section 173 of PA 295 (2008), as amended by PA 342 (2016). ³¹¹ It would remove all caps for distributed generation and stipulates that an electric provider cannot restrict the number of participants in a distributed generation program. ³¹² This bill was sponsored by Gregory Markkanen (R), Vice Chair of the Michigan House Energy Committee and is backed by environmental groups and other stakeholders. ³¹³ Michigan's largest energy providers, Consumers Energy and DTE, both oppose this bill stating that it would have negative consequences for their electric customers. ³¹⁴

The second is HB 4716 (2021), which would amend PA 295 (2008), as amended by PA 342 (2016), to define and provide for the establishment of community solar facilities.³¹⁵ This bill was introduced by Michele Hoitenga (R) and Rachel Hood (D) to "strengthen our energy grid

and boost our economy – without raising taxes... This plan saves will businesses and Michigan residents money while creating jobs and more customer choice" according to Hoitenga.³¹⁶ It will also make solar energy more accessible to ratepayers who face barriers to installing rooftop solar, including financial barriers, roof limitations or lack of property ownership.³¹⁷

3 | CONCLUDING ANALYSIS

Over the past two decades, Michigan has implemented progressive policies across the state to meet aggressive climate goals. The legislature has passed bills setting emissions reduction targets including energy efficiency and demand reduction. This has been instrumental in encouraging the state's investor-owned utilities, municipal utilities, and cooperative utilities to reach the targets and help with the process of renewable energy transition. The RPS has supported deployment of solar and wind energy across the state with an evident decrease in the cost of renewable energy technologies which has been beneficial for the new incoming projects. Even though the RPS has been met as of 2020, an increase in the standard could help achieve the goal of net zero.

Political leadership, particularly in the Governor's office, has long played an important role in fostering renewable energy development in Michigan. Since the introduction of its RPS in 2008, Michigan saw significant investments and growth in renewable energy generation, which was instrumental in achieving Michigan's initial RPS goal and for its ability to generate about 11% of its total in-state electricity from renewable energy in 2020.³¹⁸ Under the leadership of Gov. Whitmer, Michigan makes great strides in increasing its share of renewable energy, and this growth is expected to continue as a result of enacting programs and policies such as MI Power Grid and the MI Healthy Climate Plan. Like its RPS, long term initiatives such as these will play an important role in ensuring Michigan continues to invest in renewable energy.

However, because Michigan is a 'purple' state, to which political power can be controlled by either political party, the extent of growth for Michigan's renewable energy landscape may be threatened by changes in politics. It is for this reason that to continue fostering growth of renewable energy in Michigan, the state must find long term and sustainable solutions that are not only rooted in the result of political outcomes in the Governor's office, but by also creating a policy landscape that brings systemic, creative, and grassroots-oriented solutions to Michigan energy landscape.

Property tax policy related to both wind and solar in Michigan is unsteady. Taxed as personal property, the tax table for utility-scale wind has been in a state of flux since its first introduction in 2007, with several iterations leading to the current version. Many local assessors are not using the current version as it is unfavorable to local government property tax revenue, leading to a plethora of lawsuits. Despite uncertainty in tax responsibilities resulting from the tax variation, wind development has steadily increased in the state. Recently introduced legislation would aim to set a state-wide tax table similar to the original 2007 table. This table, developed with MREC, likely appeals to local governments as it will likely increase local tax revenues.

A newer technology being deployed at the utility-scale, solar is in a similarly unstable tax policy position as wind. It has been taxed ad valorem at local rates, resulting in varying annual taxes. A PILOT program for solar was introduced in 2020 but was struck down by Gov. Whitmer due to concerns about local governments being left out of the planning and payments to localities that would be well below normal. Property taxes for utility-scale solar are currently based on interim guidelines from the STC with new legislation expected to be proposed soon.

The tax policy situations for these technologies are neither helping nor harming development in the state. Local revenue from these projects is very important in the high

resource, typically rural areas of the state where the majority of projects are developed. The uncertainty in tax responsibility may cause slight hesitation for developers, but both sides usually want to develop the renewable energy projects. NIMBY is likely providing much more of a roadblock to development than uncertain tax policies. Solidifying the tax policy, however, is an opportunity for improving the state's ability to develop renewable energy.

Similar to the variety in local tax policy for solar projects, because Michigan has hyperlocal siting authority, there is a lack of uniformity amongst local government's renewable energy siting ordinances. Consequently, this can have implications for the efficient development of renewable energy facilities in Michigan communities. While there are pros and cons to whether a state or local government holds siting authority for renewable energy, the State of Michigan – with the help of other non-governmental stakeholders – has strategically been able to provide at least some potential guidance to local governments to considered in their planning ordinances with the use of sample zoning guides. While sample zoning guides are made general and not community specific and their legitimacy may be questioned by some, the creation of statesponsored and/or state-wide sample zoning guides are useful for Michigan communities to consider renewable energy in the planning ordinances. Sample zoning ordinances should also be updated on a regular basis to include updated information on best practices and how to site other forms of energy technologies, such as energy storage or electric vehicle infrastructure.

Unlike siting for generation, transmission siting is at the state level by the MPSC as it transcends localities. The transmission system in Michigan is privately-owned, aging, and facing congestion. These transmission constraints are among the largest barriers to renewable energy development. Improvement projects within and investment into the system are mainly done by the transmission operators. Siting for these projects falls to the MPSC, rather than localities as is

the case for generation projects. As part of the MI Power Grid initiative, ITC conducted a host capacity analysis, finding the southern and central regions of the state have the greatest capacity for affordable renewable energy expansion and development. The regions identified in the study have strong resource potential as well as compatible land use for renewable energy development and projects. The South, Central, and Wayne regions (see Figure 23) contain the major population centers in the state, likely resulting in overbuilt infrastructure capable of supporting renewable energy expansion. These areas tend to be more liberal (see Figure 10), increasing both the chance of public acceptance of new renewable energy projects and the odds of siting approval by local governments, to whom the responsibility falls for approving renewable energy projects.

In the past year, Michigan has become an active player in its own energy market by siting renewable energy on public lands. With long term renewable energy and carbon reduction goals, increasing its deployment of renewable energy on public lands will help Michigan achieve its energy and carbon neutrality goals. By siting renewable energy on its own lands, this will likely provide a path of least resistance for the development of renewable energy, making it a strategic effort the state of Michigan should continue. Because renewable energy facilities typically have long lifespans, the state's ability to procure renewable energy on its own lands will also help achieve long term results for the state's energy transition. However, because Michigan politics have implications for renewable energy growth, the success of Michigan's energy transition cannot be overly reliant on political outcomes. Therefore, the state must help bring communities along in the benefits of a renewable energy transition by working collaboratively with local stakeholders in efforts to foster renewable energy.

As the primary regulator of utilities in Michigan, the MPSC has been instrumental in rulemaking and enforcement of policies impacting renewable energy deployment in the state. Since the MPSC is made up of three commissioners appointed by the governor, at the time of this writing two Democrats and one Independent, it is no surprise that in recent years, its work has largely supported renewable energy policy. In addition to the political affiliation of the commissioners, much of the MPSC's work is dictated by executive directives coming from the governor's office. This includes developing guidance for and approving the development of IRPs and renewable energy plans that have pushed utilities in the direction of integrating renewable energy projects into their long-term planning. The MPSC has overseen the rollout of green pricing programs which are widely seen to spur new renewable energy development in the state, and the PURPA avoided cost review which is not expected to have significant impacts on renewable energy development going forward. Additionally, the MPSC is making strides forward to support renewable energy development through the MI Power Grid initiative, which will wrap up in late 2022.

The MPSC's work related to distributed generation is highly criticized by renewable energy advocates. While much of recent legislation and rulemaking by the MPSC has supported expanded renewable energy deployment, the change from net metering to an inflow/outflow tariff for distributed generation is seen as a big setback. While this seems out of place compared to other recent MPSC initiatives, it aligns with the politically purple nature of the state of Michigan. In order to pass many progressive renewable energy policies in the major 2016 energy bill, one of the concessions was moving away from net metering for distributed generation. This is no surprise as at the time it was passed, there was a Republican governor and Republican led legislature. The MPSC was required to develop inflow/outflow tariff guidelines by this

legislation, even if they generally lean towards supporting renewable energy development or net metering.

Michigan's purple nature is a dictating factor in its renewable energy policy. It is not particularly cohesive, with some aspects controlled by the state, like the RPS, and some left to localities, like siting. Some aspects, like property taxes, are controlled at different levels depending on the policy. Some aspects within a level are controlled by different parties as well, depending on which party holds the legislature and the governorship. The state's policy is likely not going to be cohesive given that control of the state's government tends to flip party control multiple times per decade. This complexity can make it difficult for policies to work in tandem to promote renewable energy, rather mostly working in parallel. This middle ground of control does provide an opportunity to learn what policies work on both sides, rather than just one if all control fell to one level of government. The purple nature of the state can also help determine what policies may work in a more conservative state. A state that values its natural resources intensely, Michigan's renewable resource potential and policies, while complex, position it well to develop strong renewable energy in the coming years and be an example for purple states nationwide.

CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT	INTEGRATING EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES	OPTIMIZING GRID INVESTMENTS AND PERFORMANCE
Commissioner Tremaine Phillips	Commissioner Katherine Peretick	Chair Dan Scripps
Focuses on providing Michigan residents and businesses with the demand-side technologies, programs, and price signals that will allow customers to be more active and effective participants in the state's transition to increased clean and distributed energy resources	Seeks to ensure timely and fair grid access and appropriate information exchange to support customer- oriented solutions and reliable system operations	Aimed at integrating transmission, distribution, and resource planning to increase transparency and optimize solutions, as well as the enhancement of tools, financial incentives, and regulatory approaches to adapt to technology change and customer preferences
	WORKGROUPS	
 Customer Education and Participation: Focus on educating customers and facilitating participation in new demand-side technologies, energy efficiency programs, demand response offerings, time- based pricing and other related programs. Innovative Rate Offering: Ensure that customers can make informed choices about available rate options including time-based pricing, distributed generation rates, and voluntary green pricing tariffs. Demand Response: Increase demand response participation, improve performance and communications, and review and update emergency operations procedures. Energy Programs and Technology Pilots: Develop objective criteria to utilize when evaluating proposed utility pilot projects and identify potential areas for additional pilot program proposals. 	 Interconnection Standards and Worker Safety: Establish updated interconnection rules that provide a standardized process and schedule to ensure that all interconnections are completed safely and in a timely manner. Data Access and Privacy: Determine how to make distribution system information available to customers to make informed decisions about where to interconnect distributed generation and also monitor customer data access and privacy issues for potential recommendations and updates when necessary. Competitive Procurement: Continue to monitor current utility competitive solicitation processes utilized to secure new generation resources and identify best practices to develop procedures and rules applicable to regulated utilities. New Technologies and Business Models: Analyze the capabilities and market access for newer technologies such as electric vehicles and storage to develop recommendations to capture potential benefits in pilots and other state initiatives, as well as cases before the Commission 	 Financial Incentives/Disincentives: Work with stakeholders to analyze and evaluate appropriate incentive/disincentive methodologies such as performance-based ratemaking, power purchase agreement incentive options and shared savings mechanisms to ensure that utility investments benefit their customers. Grid Security and Reliability Metrics: Work with stakeholders to update both the Service Quality and Reliability Rules and the Technical Standards for Electric Service to ensure utilities meet certain levels of performance and to enhance customer service and the physical and cyber security of utility infrastructure. Advanced Planning Processes: Workgroups will be held to discuss the value of electric generation diversity, the value of resilience, updates to future IRP requirements, and how to coordinate better alignment of electric transmission, distribution and generation planning efforts.

APPENDIX A | MPSC MI POWER GRID INITIATIVE OVERVIEW^{319,320}

https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI#18.

https://worldpopulationreview.com/state-rankings/states-by-area.

⁷ Eve Washington. Planet Detroit. "How does Michigan get its electricity?" June 2020. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021. https://planetdetroit.org/2020/06/how-does-michigan-get-its-electricity/.

⁸ Amanda Luhavalja. "Prices in MISO's latest capacity auction drop 52% in Zone 4, surge in other zones." S&P Global. https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/trending/tlg6z_pwe6aagpnkyxilqg2. ⁹ State of Michigan. LARA, MPSC. "MPSC/Regulatory Information/Electricity" retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308 93325 93423 93500 94218-504617--,00.html

¹⁰ Nadja Popovich. "How does your state make electricity?" The New York Times. Retrieved Oct. 6 2021 from https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/12/24/climate/how-electricity-generation-changed-in-your-state.html ¹¹ US Energy Information Administration. "Michigan analysis." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021. https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI#18.

¹² Nadja Popovich. "How does your state make electricity?" The New York Times. Retrieved Oct. 6 2021 from https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/12/24/climate/how-electricity-generation-changed-in-your-state.html ¹³ US Energy Information Administration. "Michigan analysis" Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI#18.

¹⁴ Ibid

15 Ibid

¹⁶ Ibid

17 Ibid

¹⁸ Solar Energy Industries Association. "State solar spotlight, Michigan." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2021-06/Michigan.pdf.

¹⁹ U.S. EIA. "Michigan Electricity Profile 2019, Table 10, Supply and disposition of electricity, 1990 through 2019". Retrieved from Michigan Profile Analysis. https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI. ²⁰ Ibid

²¹ Abhi Kantamneni. "Rethinking local energy choices & costs." Michigan Tech Keweenaw Research Center. Retrieved from Rotary Club of Houghton Oct. 6, 2021 from https://portal.clubrunner.ca/5671/Stories/abhikantamneni-engineer-michigan-tech-keweenaw-research-center.

²² Consumer Energy, "What we do," retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://www.consumersenergy.com/company/whatwe-do.

²³DTE Energy. "About DTE." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://newlook.dteenergy.com/wps/wcm/connect/dte-</u> web/home/about-dte/common/about-dte/about-

dte#:~:text=Its%20operating%20units%20include%20an,and%20energy%20marketing%20and%20trading. ²⁴ State of Michigan. LARA, MPSC. "Electricity." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463---,00.html.

²⁵ State of Michigan. LARA, MPSC. "MPSC/Regulatory Information/Electricity" retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308 93325 93423 93500 94218-504617--,00.html

²⁶ Breana Noble. "Michigan could need more electricity generation for EVs." The Detroit News. retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/2021/06/02/dte-ceo-michigan-could-need-more-

electricity-generation-evs/7507963002/

²⁷ Consumers Energy, "News release: Jackson, Mich. Monday February 24, 2020" retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://www.consumersenergy.com/news-releases/news-release-details/2020/02/24/16/03/consumers-energycommits-to-net-zero-carbon-emissions-takes-stand-for-the-

¹ Samantha Williams. "Midwest renewables surge forward: but where is Ohio?" Natural Resources Defense Council. March 29, 2019. Retrieved February 4, 2022 https://www.nrdc.org/experts/samantha-williams/midwestrenewables-surge-forward-where-ohio

² "Integrated Resource Plan Statewide Parameter Setting/Modeling." MPSC. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463 93723 93730-406248--,00.html.

² State of Michigan. Michigan Public Service Commission. 2020 Annual Report. 2021.

³ US Energy Information Administration. "Michigan analysis." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021.

⁴ Eve Washington. Planet Detroit. "How does Michigan get its electricity?" June 2020. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021, https://planetdetroit.org/2020/06/how-does-michigan-get-its-electricity/.

⁵ World Population Review. "United States by Area." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

⁶ US Energy Information Administration. "Michigan analysis." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI#18.

planet#:~:text=Consumers%20Energy%20Commits%20to%20Net,Takes%20Stand%20for%20the%20Planet&text=Consumers%20Energy%20today%20announced%20a,the%20planet%20for%20future%20generations.

²⁸ DTE Energy, "Climate change" retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://newlook.dteenergy.com/wps/wcm/connect/dte-web/home/community-and-news/common/renewable-energy/climate-</u>

change#:~:text=Reducing%20our%20Carbon%20Footprint,from%202010%20levels%20by%202030.

²⁹ Gomberg, Sam, Jeff Deyette, and Sandra Sattler. *Charting Michigan's Renewable Energy Future*. Report. Union of Concerned Scientists. Cambridge, MA, 2014.

³⁰ "Net Generation for All Sectors." Electricity Data Browser. Accessed Oct. 2021.

https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/0?agg=2,0,1&fuel=g3vv&geo=00004&sec=g&freq=A&start=2 001&end=2020&ctype=linechart.

³¹ Gomberg, Sam, Jeff Deyette, and Sandra Sattler. *Charting Michigan's Renewable Energy Future*. Report. Union of Concerned Scientists. Cambridge, MA, 2014.

³² "Net Generation for All Sectors." Electricity Data Browser. Accessed Oct. 2021.

https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/0?agg=2,0,1&fuel=g3vv&geo=00004&sec=g&freq=A&start=2 001&end=2020&ctype=linechart.

³³ Gomberg, Sam, Jeff Deyette, and Sandra Sattler. *Charting Michigan's Renewable Energy Future*. Report. Union of Concerned Scientists. Cambridge, MA, 2014.

³⁴ United States. Department of Energy. Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. U.S. Renewable Energy Technical Potentials: A GIS-Based Analysis. By Anthony Lopez, Billy Roberts, Donna Heimiller, Nate Blair, and Gian Porro. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2012.

³⁵ "Net Generation for All Sectors." Electricity Data Browser. Accessed Oct. 2021.

https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/0?agg=2,0,1&fuel=g3vv&geo=00004&sec=g&freq=A&start=2 001&end=2020&ctype=linechart.

³⁶ United States. Department of Energy. Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. U.S. Renewable Energy Technical Potentials: A GIS-Based Analysis. By Anthony Lopez, Billy Roberts, Donna Heimiller, Nate Blair, and Gian Porro. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2012.
³⁷ Ibid.

³⁸ Gomberg, Sam, Jeff Deyette, and Sandra Sattler. *Charting Michigan's Renewable Energy Future*. Report. Union of Concerned Scientists. Cambridge, MA, 2014.

³⁹ United States. Department of Energy. Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. U.S. Renewable Energy Technical Potentials: A GIS-Based Analysis. By Anthony Lopez, Billy Roberts, Donna Heimiller, Nate Blair, and Gian Porro. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2012.

⁴⁰ Gomberg, Sam, Jeff Deyette, and Sandra Sattler. *Charting Michigan's Renewable Energy Future*. Report. Union of Concerned Scientists. Cambridge, MA, 2014.

⁴¹ Ibid.

⁴² Jacobson, Mark Z. Zero Air Pollution and Zero Carbon From All Energy Without Blackouts at Low Cost in Michigan. Report. Stanford University. Stanford, CA, 2021.

⁴³ "Wind Energy in Michigan." WINDExchange. Accessed October 2021.

https://windexchange.energy.gov/states/mi.

⁴⁴ ABC 12 News, "More wind and solar installations likely in Mid-Michigan to combat climate change" Colton Cichoracki. Published Jul. 9, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://www.abc12.com/2021/07/09/more-wind-solar-installations-likely-mid-michigan-combat-climate-change/</u>

⁴⁵ Detroit Free Press, "Michigan's largest batch of wind turbines is up and running, more to come this year" Bill Laitner. Published Apr. 23, 2020. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from

https://www.freep.com/story/news/local/michigan/2020/04/23/dte-energy-windmills-wind-turbines-polaris/3007957001/

⁴⁶ Energy News Network, "Developer cancels plan for large Upper Peninsula wind project" Andy Balaskovitz. Published Apr. 19, 2019. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://energynews.us/2019/04/19/developer-cancels-plan-for-large-upper-peninsula-wind-project/</u>

⁴⁷ Groth, T. M., & Vogt, C. (2014). Residents' perceptions of wind turbines: An analysis of two townships in Michigan. Energy Policy, 65, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.10.055

⁴⁸ Groth, T. M., & Vogt, C. (2014). Residents' perceptions of wind turbines: An analysis of two townships in Michigan. Energy Policy, 65, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.10.055

⁴⁹ Energy News Network, "Developer cancels plan for large Upper Peninsula wind project" Andy Balaskovitz. Published Apr. 19, 2019. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://energynews.us/2019/04/19/developer-cancels-plan-for-large-upper-peninsula-wind-project/</u> ⁵⁰ The Detroit News, "A community divided: Southern Michigan wind project faces opposition" Evan James Carter. Published Dec. 4, 2019. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from

https://www.detroitnews.com/story/opinion/2019/12/04/opinion-southern-michigan-wind-project-faces-opposition/3920938002/

⁵¹ MLive, "Mid-Michigan township enacts moratorium on solar development, leaders to form planning and zoning commission" Sergio Montanez. Published Jul. 8, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from

https://www.mlive.com/news/flint/2021/07/mid-michigan-township-enacts-moratorium-on-solar-development-leaders-to-form-planning-and-zoning-commission.html

⁵² City of Ann Arbor, "A2Zero Action Plan_3.0" Published Apr. 2020. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://www.a2gov.org/departments/sustainability/Documents/A2Zero%20Climate%20</u>Action%20Plan%20_3.0.pdf

⁵³ City of Detroit, "Sustainability Action Agenda" Published Jun. 2019. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from

https://detroitmi.gov/sites/detroitmi.localhost/files/2019-06/Detroit-Sustainability-Action-Agenda-Web.pdf

⁵⁴ Energy News Network, "Michigan's energy activists start to see a decade of work pay off in Highland Park" Tom Perkins. Published May 4, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://energynews.us/2021/05/04/michigans-energy-activists-start-to-see-a-decade-of-work-pay-off-in-highland-park/</u>

⁵⁵ Detroit Free Press, "Traverse City sets path to 100% renewable energy" Jim Carruthers. Published Aug. 23, 2018. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://www.freep.com/story/opinion/contributors/2018/08/23/traverse-city-renewable-energy/1075922002/</u>

⁵⁶ City of Grand Rapids, "Strategic Plan Performance Management Report - September 28, 2021" Published Sep. 28, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from https://www.grandrapidsmi.gov/Government/City-Commission/City-Commission-Briefings/2021-09-28-FY2021-Strategic-Plan-Performance-Management-Report

⁵⁷ MiBiz, "Lawmakers reintroduce legislation to expand rooftop solar program" Andy Balaskovitz. Published Feb. 22, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://mibiz.com/sections/energy/lawmakers-reintroduce-legislation-to-expand-rooftop-solar-program</u>

⁵⁸ MiBiz, "Lawmakers reintroduce legislation to expand rooftop solar program" Andy Balaskovitz. Published Feb. 22, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://mibiz.com/sections/energy/lawmakers-reintroduce-legislation-to-expand-rooftop-solar-program</u>

⁵⁹ The Detroit News, "DTE, Consumers Energy support raising rooftop solar cap" Candice Williams. Published May. 4, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/2021/05/04/dte-consumers-energy-support-raising-rooftop-solar-cap/4940730001/</u>

⁶⁰ The Detroit News, "DTE, Consumers Energy support raising rooftop solar cap" Candice Williams. Published May. 4, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 3, 2021 from <u>https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/2021/05/04/dte-consumers-energy-support-raising-rooftop-solar-cap/4940730001/</u>

⁶¹ US Energy Information Administration. "Michigan analysis." retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI</u>

⁶² MichiganLegislature.gov. "A brief history of Michigan" retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/publications/manual/2001-2002/2001-mm-0003-0026-History.pdf ⁶³ UP Supply Co. "The upper peninsula of Michigan." retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://upsupply.co/upper-peninsula</u>.

⁶⁴ World Population Review. "Michigan population 2021." retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/states/michigan-population.</u>

⁶⁵ Paul Egan, Nushrat Rahman, & Christine MacDonald. Detroit Free Press. "2020 Census: Michigan diversifies as size of white majority shrinks." Published Aug. 13, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.freep.com/story/news/local/michigan/2021/08/13/2020-census-michigan-diversifies-white-majority-shrinks/8115232002/

⁶⁶ Ken Haddad. "2020 Census data and map: Michigan population change by county since 2010." Click on Detroit, Published Aug. 13, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.clickondetroit.com/news/michigan/2021/08/13/2020-census-data-and-map-michigan-population-change-by-county-since-2010/#//

⁶⁷ Ibid.

68 Ibid.

⁶⁹ Detroit Chamber. "The auto industry in Michigan." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.detroitchamber.com/the-auto-industry-in-

 $\frac{michigan/\#:\sim:text=Michigan\%20 workers\%20 manufactured\%20 nearly\%202.1, over\%20 the\%20 past\%20 five\%20 year}{s.}$

⁷⁰ State of Michigan. "March 2019 summary." Michigan Office of Revenue and Tax Analysis, Michigan Dept. of

Treasury. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/Michigan_Economic_Update_-<u>March_2019_655102_7.pdf</u> ⁷¹ US Senator Debbie Stabenow. "The Climate crisis in Michigan." Published Oct. 2019. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021

from https://www.stabenow.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Climate%20Crisis%20Report.pdf

72 Ibid.

⁷³ Michigan Trophy Whitetail Hunts. "Deer hunting related information for the State of Michigan." retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>http://www.michigan-trophy-whitetail-hunts.com/deer-hunting-news.htm</u>

74 Ibid.

⁷⁵ State of Michigan. "Electric utility service area map." LARA, MPSC. MPSC/Consumer information/Electricity, retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0.9535,7-395-93308_93325_93423_93500_94218-</u>504617--.00.html

504617--,00.html ⁷⁶ 270 to Win. "Michigan presidential election voting history." Politico, Michigan election results. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://www.270towin.com/states/Michigan.</u>

⁷⁷ Politico. "Joe Biden win in Michigan, flipping a state Donald Trump win in 2016." Jan. 6, 2021. Retrieved Feb. 3, 2022 https://www.politico.com/2020-election/results/michigan/

⁷⁸ Ibid.

79 Ibid

⁸⁰ Christian Koch. "2018 Michigan gubernatorial candidate clean energy questionnaire." June 2018. Groundwork Center for Resilient Communities. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 <u>https://www.groundworkcenter.org/wp-</u>content/uploads/originals/qa1mmzh7h7db4a5koie9.pdf

⁸¹ Dan Gearino & Marianne Lavelle. "Election 2018: Clean energy's future could rise of fall with these governor's races." Inside Climate News. Published by on Oct. 1, 2018. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021

https://insideclimatenews.org/news/01102018/election-2018-governor-races-renewable-energy-wisconsin-mainemichigan-colorado-new-mexico-nevada/

⁸² Christian Koch. "2018 Michigan gubernatorial candidate clean energy questionnaire." June 2018. Groundwork Center for Resilient Communities. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 <u>https://www.groundworkcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/originals/qa1mmzh7h7db4a5koie9.pdf</u>

⁸³ Ballot Pedia. "United states congressional delegations from Michigan." Retrieved Feb. 3, 2022 from <u>https://ballotpedia.org/United_States_congressional_delegations_from_Michigan</u>.

⁸⁴ Ballotpedia. "Michigan House of Representatives." Retrieved Feb. 3, 2022 from

https://ballotpedia.org/Michigan_House_of_Representatives

⁸⁵ Ballotpedia. "Michigan State Senate." Retrieved Feb. 3, 2022 from https://ballotpedia.org/Michigan_State_Senate
 ⁸⁶ Ballot Pedia. "United states congressional delegations from Michigan." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from

https://ballotpedia.org/United_States_congressional_delegations_from_Michigan.

⁸⁷ Michigan League of Conservation Voters. "Joseph Bellino, Lifetime scorecard 2017-2022." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 <u>https://michiganlcv.org/lawmaker/joseph-bellino/?lifetime=1</u>.

⁸⁸ Michigan House Republicans. "Rep. Bellino: Line 5 tunnel best solution for Michigan's economy and our environment" Belliono press release, July 21, 2020. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 <u>http://staging.gophouse.rocks/posts/rep-bellino-line-5-tunnel-best-solution-for-michigans-economy-and-our-environment</u>

⁸⁹ Greg Markkane. "Changes needed in state law that govern solar." The Mining Journal. Released May 29, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://www.miningjournal.net/opinion/2021/05/changes-needed-in-state-law-that-govern-solar/</u>.

⁹⁰ Michigan EIBC. "Businesses urge House Energy Committee to hold a vote on bill to lift solar cap." Released May 5, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 <u>https://mieibc.org/businesses-urge-house-energy-committee-to-hold-a-vote-on-bill-to-lift-solar-cap/</u>.

⁹¹ BallotPedia. "Michigan House of Representatives." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from https://ballotpedia.org/Michigan House of Representatives.

⁹² BallotPedia. "Michigan State Senate." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://ballotpedia.org/Michigan_State_Senate</u>
 ⁹³ Michigan League of Conservation Voters. "Dan Lauwers, Lifetime scorecard 2021-2022." Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from <u>https://michiganlcv.org/lawmaker/dan-lauwers/</u>.

⁹⁴ State Senator Dan Lauwers. "Lawmakers support review of state's energy infrastructure." Released Feb. 1, 2019. Retrieved Oct 6, 2021 from <u>https://www.senatordanlauwers.com/lawmakers-support-review-of-states-energy-infrastructure/</u>.

⁹⁵ Michigan EIBC. "Letter to Michigan legislature leaders regarding distributed generation cap." Michigan EIBC News. Retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 <u>https://mieibc.org/letter-to-michigan-legislature-leaders-regarding-distributed-generation-cap/.</u>

⁹⁶ State Renewable Portfolio Standards and Goals. 2021. "National Conference of State Legislatures." Accessed October 2021. <u>https://www.ncsl.org/research/energy/renewable-portfolio-standards.aspx</u>

⁹⁷ Clean and renewable energy and energy waste reduction act. (Act 295 of 2008). Accessed October 2021. <u>http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(xtbnadjznkz2qp2gmduxjbji))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Act-295-of-2008</u>

⁹⁸ Sam Gomberg, Jeff Deyette, and Sandra Sattler. Union of Concerned Scientists. March, 2014. Accessed October 2021. <u>https://www.ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/2019-09/Charting-Michigan-s-Renewable-Energy-Future.pdf</u>

⁹⁹ "Clean, renewable, and efficient energy act." Senate Bill No. 438. July 1, 2015. Accessed October 2021. http://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2015-2016/billintroduced/Senate/pdf/2015-SIB-0438.pdf

¹⁰⁰ "Clean, renewable, and efficient energy act." Senate Bill No. 438. July 1, 2015. Accessed October 2021. http://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2015-2016/billintroduced/Senate/pdf/2015-SIB-0438.pdf

¹⁰¹ Sally A., Talberg. Norman J., Saari. "Report on the Implementation and Cost Effectiveness of the P.A. 295 Renewable Energy Standard." Michigan Public Service Commission. Accessed October 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/2019_Feb_15_Report_PA_295_Renewable_Energy_646445_7.pdf ¹⁰² Jeffery, Tomich. *Steyer group pulls ballot campaign in deal with utilities*. Energy Wire. 2018. Accessed October 2021 https://www.eenews.net/articles/steyer-group-pulls-ballot-campaign-in-deal-with-utilities/

¹⁰³ Jeffery, Tomich. *Steyer group pulls ballot campaign in deal with utilities*. Energy Wire. 2018. Accessed October 2021 <u>https://www.eenews.net/articles/steyer-group-pulls-ballot-campaign-in-deal-with-utilities/</u>

¹⁰⁴ Ibid. ¹⁰⁵ Ibid.

¹⁰⁶ Andy, Balaskovitz. *Michigan's renewable energy law levels off next year*. What's next? Energy News Network. 2020. Accessed October 2021 <u>https://energynews.us/2020/02/05/michigans-renewable-energy-law-levels-off-next-year-whats-next/</u>

¹⁰⁷ Clean and renewable energy and energy waste reduction amendment. (HB 5420. 2020. Accessed October 2021. http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(5q2olo0qq0tyc11iywzvtx2a))/mileg.aspx?page=GetObject&objectname=2020-HB-5420

¹⁰⁸ Andy Balaskovitz. *Michigan's renewable energy law levels off next year*. What's next? Energy News Network. 2020. Accessed October 2021 <u>https://energynews.us/2020/02/05/michigans-renewable-energy-law-levels-off-next-year-whats-next/</u>

¹⁰⁹ Report on the Implementation and Cost Effectiveness of the P.A. 295 Renewable Energy Standard (2021). Accessed October

2021<u>https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/2020_Renewable_Energy_Standard_Report_with_Appendices_71</u> 6372_7.pdf

¹¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹¹ Renewable Energy, MPSC. Accessed October 2021 from <u>https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308_93325_93423_93502-500271--,00.html</u>

¹¹² Michigan groups spotlight renewable technologies for clean power week. Accessed October 2021. Online Retrieved: <u>https://www.metrotimes.com/news-hits/archives/2021/10/29/michigan-groups-spotlight-renewable-technologies-for-clean-power-week</u>

¹¹³ Office of Climate and Energy. Accessed October 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85452---,00.html

¹¹⁴ Office of Climate and Energy. Accessed October 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85452---,00.html

¹¹⁵ Office of Climate and Energy. Accessed October 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85452---,00.html

¹¹⁶ Tiffany, Brown. Michigan Governor Gretchen Whitmer joins U.S. Climate Alliance. United States Climate Alliance. Accessed October 2021. <u>https://www.usclimatealliance.org/publications/2019/2/4/michigan-governor-gretchen-whitmer-joins-us-climate-alliance</u>

¹¹⁷ Executive Directive No. 2020-10. Accessed October

2021<u>https://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/MIEOG/2020/09/23/file_attachments/1553296/ED%202020-10%20Carbon_Neutral_Goal.pdf</u>

¹¹⁸ Inside Michigan's plan to battle climate change, decarbonize (2021). Accessed October 2021.

https://www.clickondetroit.com/features/2021/05/05/inside-michigans-plan-to-battle-climate-change-decarbonize/#// ¹¹⁹ Office of Climate Change and Energy (September 2021). Accessed October 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453 85458-569145--,00.html

¹²⁰ Office of Climate Change and Energy (September 2021). Accessed October 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453 85458-569145--,00.html

¹²¹ The office of Governor Whitmer (September, 2021). Accessed October 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/0,9309,7-387-90487-568781--,00.html

¹²² Jennifer M. Granholm. Accessed October 2021 <u>https://www.energy.gov/person/jennifer-m-granholm</u>

¹²³ Midwest cap and trade: Not dead, just sleeping (March, 2011). Accessed October

2021https://energynews.us/2011/03/04/midwest-cap-and-trade-is-it-dead-or-no/

¹²⁴ Ibid.

125 Ibid.

¹²⁶ Blue Wave in Midwest Could Resurrect Climate Compact (November, 2018). Accessed October 2021 <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/blue-wave-in-midwest-could-resurrect-climate-compact/</u>

¹²⁷ The General Property Tax Act, Section 211.8, (1893). http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-211-8. ¹²⁸ Nelson, Greg. "Millions at Stake in Wind Turbine Tax Litigation." The Morning Sun. June 17, 2021. Accessed

October 2021. https://www.themorningsun.com/2021/03/06/millions-at-stake-in-wind-turbine-tax-litigation/. ¹²⁹ Nelson, Greg. "Millions at Stake in Wind Turbine Tax Litigation." The Morning Sun. June 17, 2021. Accessed October 2021. https://www.themorningsun.com/2021/03/06/millions-at-stake-in-wind-turbine-tax-litigation/. ¹³⁰ Ibid.

¹³¹ Ibid.

¹³² Ibid.

¹³³ "State Tax Commission Deals Blow on Wind Turbine Tax Cash." The Oakland Press. June 22, 2021. Accessed October 2021. https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2021/06/22/state-tax-commission-deals-blow-on-wind-turbine-tax-cash-2/.

¹³⁴ Creenan, Robert. "Townships' Wind Turbine Tax Appeals Going to Court of Appeals." Huron Daily Tribune. October 27, 2021. Accessed October 2021. https://www.michigansthumb.com/news/article/Townships-wind-turbine-tax-appeals-going-to-16565773.php.

¹³⁵ Mills, Sarah. "Property Tax Structure." Lecture, Ann Arbor, MI, October 20, 2021.

¹³⁶ "Net Generation for Wind, Annual." Electricity Data Browser. Accessed December 2021.

https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/0?agg=1,0,2&fuel=008&geo=00004&sec=o3g&freq=A&start=2001&end=2020&ctype=linechart.

¹³⁷ Creenan, Robert. "New Legislation Would Set Wind Turbine Tax Table." Huron Daily Tribune. September 25, 2021. Accessed October 2021. https://www.michigansthumb.com/news/article/New-legislation-would-set-wind-turbine-tax-table-16485206.php.

¹³⁸ Nelson, Greg. "Millions at Stake in Wind Turbine Tax Litigation." The Morning Sun. June 17, 2021. Accessed
 October 2021. https://www.themorningsun.com/2021/03/06/millions-at-stake-in-wind-turbine-tax-litigation/.
 ¹³⁹ Ibid.

¹⁴⁰ Ibid.

¹⁴¹ Sylvia, Tim. "No Property Tax for Residential Solar in Michigan." PV Magazine. November 19, 2019. Accessed October 2021. https://pv-magazine-usa.com/2019/11/19/no-property-tax-for-residential-solar-in-michigan/.

¹⁴² Balaskovitz, Andy. "Whitmer Expected to Sign Bills That Clarify Solar Energy Tax Exemptions." MiBiz. November 03, 2019. Accessed October 2021. https://mibiz.com/sections/energy/whitmer-expected-to-sign-bills-that-clarify-solar-energy-tax-exemptions.

¹⁴³ Mills, Sarah. "PILOTs and Direct Donations." Lecture, Ann Arbor, MI, October 25, 2021.

¹⁴⁴ "Solar Property Tax Alternative Passes Senate." MI Chamber. December 3, 2020. Accessed October 2021. https://www.michamber.com/news/solar-property-tax-alternative-passes-senate/.

¹⁴⁵ Judy Allen, Deena Bosworth, and Chris Hackbarth to Honorable Gretchen Whitmer. December 21, 2020. http://blogs.mml.org/wp/inside208/files/2021/01/SB-1105-and-1106-veto-request-letter.pdf.

¹⁴⁶ Mills, Sarah. "PILOTs and Direct Donations." Lecture, Ann Arbor, MI, October 25, 2021.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

¹⁴⁸ Great Plains Institute. "Siting utility-scale solar and wind in Michigan: a guide to local governments." August 2020 p. 8. <u>https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2020/08/Solar_and_Wind_in_Michigan_Siting_Guide.pdf.

¹⁴⁹ Great Plains Institute. "Siting utility-scale solar and wind in Michigan: a guide to local governments." August 2020 p. 2. <u>https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2020/08/Solar_and_Wind_in_Michigan_Siting_Guide.pdf.

¹⁵⁰ Great Plains Institute. "Siting utility-scale solar and wind in Michigan: a guide to local governments." August 2020. p. 8 <u>https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2020/08/Solar and Wind in Michigan Siting Guide.pdf.

¹⁵¹ Ibid.

¹⁵² Ibid.

¹⁵³ Ibid.

¹⁵⁴ Mika Meyers PLC. "Michigan Adopts a Uniform Zoning Statute: The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act." May 1, 2006. <u>https://www.mikameyers.com/news/article/michigan-adopts-a-uniform-zoning-statute-the-michigan-zoning-enabling-act</u>.

¹⁵⁵ Ibid.

¹⁵⁶ Mika Meyers PLC. "Legislature Amends the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act." March 28, 2008.

https://www.mikameyers.com/news/article/legislature-amends-the-michigan-zoning-enabling-act.

¹⁵⁷ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes and Energy. "Council on climate solutions workshop recommendations." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3306_88771_102482_108976---,00.html.</u> ¹⁵⁸ Ibid.

 ¹⁵⁹ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html</u>.
 ¹⁶⁰ Dalton & Tomich. "The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act: Who is an "Aggrieved Party?" October 8, 2018. <u>https://www.daltontomich.com/the-michigan-zoning-enabling-act-who-is-an-aggrieved-party/.</u>

¹⁶¹ Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (Act 110 of 2006). Article VI, Zoning Board of Appeals, section 2.
 <u>http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(x3eqqx2ix0ez34nsk1zysl45)/documents/mcl/pdf/mcl-Act-110-of-2006.pdf.</u>
 ¹⁶² Dalton & Tomich. "The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act: Who is an "Aggrieved Party?" October 8, 2018.

https://www.daltontomich.com/the-michigan-zoning-enabling-act-who-is-an-aggrieved-party/.

¹⁶³ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html.</u>
 ¹⁶⁴ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html.</u>
 ¹⁶⁵ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html.</u>
 ¹⁶⁵ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Department (Michigan Department) (Michi

Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html.</u> ¹⁶⁶ Jaclyn Kahn & Laura Shields. "State approaches to wind facility siting." National Conference of State Legislatures. Sept 2020 <u>https://www.ncsl.org/research/energy/state-wind-energy-siting.aspx</u> ¹⁶⁷ "Ibid.

¹⁶⁸ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html.</u>
 ¹⁶⁹ Great Plains Institute. "Siting utility-scale solar and wind in Michigan: a guide to local governments." August 2020. p. 9 <u>https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2020/08/Solar and Wind in Michigan Siting Guide.pdf

¹⁷⁰ Ibid.

¹⁷¹ Ibid.

172 Ibid.

¹⁷³ Michigan State University Extension. "Sample zoning for wind energy systems." Michigan State University Extension, Land Use Series. October 2020. p. 2.

https://www.canr.msu.edu/outreach/uploads/files/wind%20sample%20zoning%2010062020_FINAL.pdf. ¹⁷⁴ Ibid.

¹⁷⁵ Great Plains Institute. "Siting utility-scale solar and wind in Michigan: a guide to local governments." August 2020. p. 9 <u>https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2020/08/Solar_and_Wind_in_Michigan_Siting_Guide.pdf

¹⁷⁶ Michigan State University Extension. "Sample zoning for wind energy systems." Michigan State University Extension, Land Use Series. October 2020. p. 2.

https://www.canr.msu.edu/outreach/uploads/files/wind%20sample%20zoning%2010062020_FINAL.pdf. ¹⁷⁷ Ibid.

¹⁷⁸ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." <u>https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453_85461-519951--,00.html.</u>

179 Ibid.

¹⁸⁰ Great Plains Institute. "Siting utility-scale solar and wind in Michigan: a guide to local governments." August 2020. p. 9 https://www.betterenergy.org/wp-

content/uploads/2020/08/Solar and Wind in Michigan Siting Guide.pdf

¹⁸¹ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, Office of Climate and Energy, in partnership with Graham Sustainability Institute, University of Michigan. "Zoning for Renewable Energy Database: Michigan Zoning Database." https://www.michigan.gov/climateandenergy/0,4580,7-364-85453 85461-519951--,00.html. ¹⁸² Ibid.

¹⁸³ Brad Neumann & Charles Gould. Michigan State University Extension. "Planning and zoning guide for solar energy systems available for local officials and landowners." Oct. 2021. https://www.canr.msu.edu/news/planningand-zoning-guide-for-solar-energy-systems-available-for-local-officials-and-landowners.

¹⁸⁴ Ibid.

¹⁸⁵ Michigan State University Extension. University of Michigan Graham Sustainability Institute. "Planning & zoning for solar energy systems: a guide for Michigan local governments." Oct. 2021. p. 2.

https://www.canr.msu.edu/planning/uploads/files/SES-Sample-Ordinance-final-20211011-single.pdf. ¹⁸⁶ Ibid.

¹⁸⁷ "About MISO." MISO. Accessed December 2021. https://www.misoenergy.org/about/.

¹⁸⁸ "About MISO." MISO. Accessed December 2021. https://www.misoenergy.org/about/.

¹⁸⁹ Moore, John. "The Clean Energy Benefits Slipping through States Fingers." Utility Dive. November 11, 2020. Accessed October 2021. https://www.utilitydive.com/news/the-clean-energy-benefits-slipping-through-statesfingers/588790/.

¹⁹⁰ Ibid.

¹⁹¹ "Electric Transmission Companies." MPSC. Accessed February 2022.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/consumer/electricity/electric-transmission-companies.

¹⁹² Ibid.

¹⁹³ Ibid.

¹⁹⁴ System Planning Committee of the Board of Directors. "MISO Transmission Expansion Plan 2020 (MTEP20)." October 26, 2020. Accessed October 2021. https://cdn.misoenergy.org/20201026 System Planning Committee of the BOD Item 03 MTEP20 Review486318.pdf.

¹⁹⁵ Michigan Public Service Commission. "Transmission Planning: Advanced Planning Stakeholder Meeting." January 19, 2020. Accessed October 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/MPG Adv Planning 1.19.21 Presentation 713269 7.pdf.

¹⁹⁶ "Michigan Transmission Projects." AEP Transmission. Accessed October 2021.

https://www.aeptransmission.com/michigan/.

¹⁹⁷ "Active Projects by Map." Electric Transmission Projects. Accessed October 2021. https://www.atcprojects.com/active-projects-by-map/.

¹⁹⁸ "Projects and Initiatives." ITC. Accessed October 2021. https://www.itc-holdings.com/projects-andinitiatives/view-all?q=44f99b75-3237-6c5b-9373-ff32003dc3d8.

¹⁹⁹ Balaskovitz, Andy. "Michigan Utilities Have a \$7 Billion Plan to Modernize State's Power Grid." Energy News Network. November 12, 2018. Accessed October 2021. https://energynews.us/2018/11/12/michigan-utilities-have-a-7-billion-plan-to-modernize-states-power-grid/.

²⁰⁰ "Facility Siting." MPSC. Accessed November 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0.9535.7-395-93309 93606 93615---,00.html.

²⁰¹ Clean and Renewable Energy and Energy Waste Reduction Act, Section 460.1153, (2008).

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(jxx5tznc5cseypec2jublhii))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-460-1153.

²⁰² Michigan Public Act 206 § 211.34c (1893). http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-211-34c.

²⁰³ "Michigan Thumb Loop 345kV Transmission Line." ITC. Accessed November 2021. https://www.itc-

holdings.com/projects-and-initiatives/project-detail/2015/10/21/michigan-thumb-loop-345kv-transmission-line.

²⁰⁴ ITC Transmission. "Capital Project Profile: Thumb Loop." News release. Accessed November 2021.

https://www.itc-holdings.com/docs/default-source/project-documents/michigan-thumb-loopproject/thumb loop project profile.pdf.

²⁰⁵ Ibid.

²⁰⁶ Ibid.

- ²⁰⁷ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁸ Ibid.

²¹⁰ Mills, Sarah. "Transmission Siting & Investment." Lecture, Ann Arbor, MI, November 17, 2021.

²¹¹ Jordan, Heather. "Thumb Residents Vote against Proposals That Would Have Allowed Wind Farms." MLive. May 03, 2017. Accessed November 2021.

https://www.mlive.com/news/saginaw/2017/05/wind farm issues on huron coun.html.

²¹² Massman, Bradley. "Planners Seek Extension of Wind Moratorium." Huron Daily Tribune. February 08, 2019. Accessed November 2021. https://www.michigansthumb.com/news/article/Planners-seek-extension-of-nbsp-windmoratorium-13599067.php.

²¹³ Kart, Jeff. "New Michigan Transmission Line to Multiply Wind Capacity." Energy News Network. January 10, 2012. Accessed November 2021. https://energynews.us/2012/01/10/new-michigan-transmission-line-to-multiplywind-capacity/.

²¹⁴ "Thumb Loop Project Is Complete." Sanilac County News. May 20, 2015. Accessed November 2021.

https://sanilaccountynews.mihomepaper.com/articles/thumb-loop-project-is-complete/.

²¹⁵ "MI Power Grid." MPSC. Accessed October 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93307 93312 93593---,00.html.

²¹⁶ Galford, Chris. "Michigan Launches MI Power Grid Initiative to Aid Cleaner Energy Transition." Daily Energy Insider. October 21, 2019. Accessed October 2021. https://dailyenergyinsider.com/news/22380-michigan-launchesmi-power-grid-initiative-to-aid-cleaner-energy-transition/.

²¹⁷ State of Michigan. MPSC. "MPSC Welcomes Results of ITC Michigan Study on Lowest-cost Areas for New Clean Energy Sites." News release, October 14, 2021. MPSC. Accessed November 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93307 93313 17280-570564--,00.html.

²¹⁸ ITC Michigan. "Michigan Hosting Capacity Study." 2021. Accessed November 2021.

https://www.oasis.oati.com/woa/docs/ITC/ITCdocs/MI Hosting Capacity - Final.pdf.

²¹⁹ Ibid.

²²⁰ Michigan Trophy Whitetail Hunts, "Deer hunting related information for the State of Michigan" retrieved Oct. 6, 2021 from http://www.michigan-trophy-whitetail-hunts.com/deer-hunting-news.htm

²²¹ Kelly House. "Five themes to watch as Michigan reconsiders its use of public lands." Bridge Magazine. Nov. 18, 2020. https://www.bridgemi.com/michigan-environment-watch/five-themes-watch-michigan-reconsiders-its-usepublic-lands.

²²² Michigan Department of Natural Resources. "New DNR land strategy sets priorities, guides actions for 4.6 million acres of public lands." July 1, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/0.4570.7-350-79137 79770 79780-563073--,00.html. ²²³ Lindsay Moore. "Whitmer commits to all renewable energy for state facilities by 2025." MLive. April 22, 2021.

https://www.mlive.com/public-interest/2021/04/whitmer-commits-to-all-renewable-energy-for-state-facilities-by-2025.html#:~:text=Whitmer%20commits%20to%20all%20renewable%20energy%20for%20state%20facilities%20b y%202025,-

Updated%3A%20Apr.&text=To%20celebrate%20Earth%20Dav%2C%20Gov.Board%20of%20Water%20and%20 Light.

²²⁴ Michigan Department of Natural Resources. "Michigan Department of Natural Resources: Public Land Strategy 2021-2027," p. 45. https://www.michigan.gov/documents/dnr/Land Strategy 2021 729314 7.pdf.

²²⁵ Ibid. p.48.

²²⁶ Ibid.

²²⁷ Michigan Department of Natural Resources. "Your public lands." Retrieved Dec. 12, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/0,4570,7-350-79136 79262---

.00.html?utm_campaign=land%20strategy%20final&utm_medium=pr&utm_source=govdelivery. 228 Michigan Legislature. House Bill 5388 (2021).

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(k14vbtkfaqyvnspy21mxi222))/mileg.aspx?page=GetObject&objectname=2021-HB-5388

²²⁹ Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes and Energy. "Council on climate solutions workshop recommendations." Retrieved Dec. 12, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3306 88771 102482 108976---.00.html.

²³⁰ Ibid.

²³¹ Michigan Department of Natural Resources. "DNR awards power purchase agreement to Utopian Power to apply clean energy to seven parks, offices in southwest Michigan." Sept. 23, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/0,4570,7-350-86469-568881--,00.html.

²⁰⁹ Ibid.

²³² UPMatters.com. "DNR to repurpose former mine sites as large-scale solar power operations." Peter Curi. September 2020. <u>https://www.upmatters.com/news/local-news/south-central-up/dnr-to-repurpose-former-mine-sites-as-large-scale-solar-power-operations/.</u>

²³³ Michigan Farm Bureau. "Michigan to allow commercial solar panels on PA 116 farmland. June 10, 2019.
 <u>https://www.michfb.com/mi/policy-politics/michigan-to-allow-commercial-solarpanels-on-pa-farmland/.</u>
 ²³⁴ Michigan Public Service Commission Patrice dot 25, 2021 farm https://www.michigan.gov/mag/0.052

²³⁴ Michigan Public Service Commission. Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93218---,00.html

²³⁵ Michigan Public Service Commission Primer (May, 2019). Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from

https://www.nrdc.org/experts/ariana-gonzalez/michigan-public-service-commission-primer ²³⁶ Michigan Public Service Commission Primer (May, 2019). Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from

https://www.nrdc.org/experts/ariana-gonzalez/michigan-public-service-commission-primer

²³⁷ R Michigan Public Service Commission. Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0.9535.7-395-93218---.00.html

²³⁸ Regulatory Information - Electricity. Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from <u>https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-</u> <u>395-93309 93439 93463---,00.html</u>

²³⁹ Michigan Public Service Commission Primer (May, 2019). Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from https://www.nrdc.org/experts/ariana-gonzalez/michigan-public-service-commission-primer
 ²⁴⁰ Michigan Public Service Commission Primer (May, 2019). Retrieved Oct. 25, 2021 from https://www.nrdc.org/experts/ariana-gonzalez/michigan-public-service-commission-primer
 ²⁴¹ State of Michigan. Michigan Public Service Commission. 2020 Annual Report. 2021.

²⁴² "Integrated Resource Plan Statewide Parameter Setting/Modeling." MPSC. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309_93439_93463_93723_93730-406248--,00.html.

²⁴³ State of Michigan. Michigan Public Service Commission. 2020 Annual Report. 2021.

²⁴⁴ Ibid.

²⁴⁵ Ibid.

²⁴⁶ Ibid.

²⁴⁷ Ibid.

²⁴⁸ Andy, B. Michigan's electricity resource planning law is pushing utilities on clean energy (March, 2020). Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from https://energynews.us/2020/03/10/michigans-electricity-resource-planning-law-is-pushing-utilities-on-clean-energy/

²⁴⁹ Ariana, G. Michigan Integrated Resource Plan Primer (June, 2019). Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from https://www.nrdc.org/experts/ariana-gonzalez/michigan-integrated-resource-plan-primer

²⁵⁰ Ariana, G. Michigan Integrated Resource Plan Primer (June, 2019). Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from

https://www.nrdc.org/experts/ariana-gonzalez/michigan-integrated-resource-plan-primer

²⁵¹ State of Michigan. Michigan Public Service Commission. *Emissions Reporting Requirements for Utility IRPs.* December 15, 2020. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://mi-

psc.force.com/sfc/servlet.shepherd/version/download/068t000000HwJydAAF.

²⁵² "Commission Activities." MPSC. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93307---,00.html.

²⁵³ *Report on the Implementation and Cost Effectiveness of the P.A. 295 Renewable Energy Standard*. Report. Michigan Public Service Commission, State of Michigan. 2021. Accessed December 13, 2021.

²⁵⁴ Ibid.

²⁵⁵ Ibid.

²⁵⁶ Clean and Renewable Energy and Energy Waste Reduction Act, 295 of 2008. Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(rxgiufpdc4oyfebi02fthhb4))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-1022&query=on&highlight=pa%20AND%20342%20AND%20renewable%20AND%20energy%20AND%20plan ²⁵⁷ Michigan Public Act 295 § 460.1022 (2008). http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-460-1022.

²⁵⁸ Renewable Energy Filings. Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463 93724 93726 94911----,00.html

²⁵⁹ Report on the Implementation and Cost Effectiveness of the P.A. 295 Renewable Energy Standard. Report. Michigan Public Service Commission, State of Michigan. 2021. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/2020_Renewable_Energy_Standard_Report_with_Appendices_716372 7.pdf.

²⁶⁰ *Report on the Implementation and Cost Effectiveness of the P.A. 295 Renewable Energy Standard*. Report. Michigan Public Service Commission, State of Michigan. 2021. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/2020 Renewable Energy Standard Report with Appendices 716372 7.pdf.

²⁶¹ Case No. U-18409, Order Approving Filing Requirements. Michigan Public Service Commission. Published August 23, 2017. Accessed January 29, 2022. https://www.michigan.gov/-

/media/Project/Websites/mpsc/regulatory/electric/ren-energy/U-18409 8-23-

17.pdf?rev=4fcb87e0185b4a6faaacd41b1c625cc5#page=10

²⁶² Case No. U-18409, Order Approving Filing Requirements. Michigan Public Service Commission. Published

August 23, 2017. Accessed January 29, 2022. https://www.michigan.gov/-

/media/Project/Websites/mpsc/regulatory/electric/ren-energy/U-18409 8-23-

17.pdf?rev=4fcb87e0185b4a6faaacd41b1c625cc5#page=10

²⁶³ State of Michigan. Section 460.1061 of 2008 Public Act 295. Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(qjfiblrkqavoceygeksu3enm))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-460-1061

²⁶⁴ Ibid.

²⁶⁵ "Voluntary Green Pricing Programs." MPSC. Accessed October 31, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0.9535,7-395-93308 93325 93423 93502-500272--.00.html.

²⁶⁶ "Voluntary Green Pricing Programs." MPSC. Accessed October 31, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308 93325 93423 93502-500272--,00.html.

²⁶⁷ Sherman, Laura. "Commentary: Michigan Green Tariff Expansion Could Define Future of Renewable

Procurement." Energy News Network. June 15, 2020. Accessed October 31, 2021.

https://energynews.us/2020/06/15/commentary-michigan-green-tariff-expansion-could-define-future-of-renewableprocurement/. ²⁶⁸ Ibid.

²⁶⁹ Ibid.

²⁷⁰ "Michigan Public Service Commission Ruling on DTE's "Voluntary Green Pricing Program" Helps to Advance A2 Clean Energy." City of Ann Arbor. June 9, 2021. Accessed October 31, 2021.

https://www.a2gov.org/news/pages/article.aspx?i=799.

²⁷¹ Ibid.

²⁷² Sherman, Laura. "Commentary: Michigan Green Tariff Expansion Could Define Future of Renewable Procurement." Energy News Network. June 15, 2020. Accessed October 31, 2021.

https://energynews.us/2020/06/15/commentary-michigan-green-tariff-expansion-could-define-future-of-renewableprocurement/. ²⁷³ "Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act." MPSC. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463 93724 93726 94915---,00.html. ²⁷⁴ Ibid.

²⁷⁵ Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act (PURPA). Issue brief. Michigan Public Service Commission, State of Michigan. September 26, 2019. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/MPSC Issue Brief -- PURPA 606768 7.pdf.

²⁷⁶ Ibid.

²⁷⁷ Ibid.

²⁷⁸ "Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act." MPSC. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463 93724 93726 94915---,00.html.

²⁷⁹ Balaskovitz, Andy. "Michigan PURPA Rulings a 'mixed Bag' for Independent Power Producers." Energy News Network. October 15, 2018. Accessed October 30, 2021. https://energynews.us/2018/10/15/michigan-purpa-rulingsa-mixed-bag-for-independent-power-producers/.

²⁸⁰ Merchant, Emma Foehringer. "Michigan PURPA Settlement Set to More Than Triple State's Solar Capacity." Michigan PURPA Settlement Set to More Than Triple State's Solar Capacity | Greentech Media. September 13, 2019. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/final-purpa-settlement-inmichigan-set-to-more-than-triple-states-solar-ins.

²⁸¹ Ibid.

²⁸² Ibid.

²⁸³ Ibid.

²⁸⁴ "MI Power Grid." MPSC. Accessed December 11, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0.9535.7-395-93307 93312 93593---,00.html.

²⁸⁵ Ibid.

²⁸⁶ Ibid.

²⁸⁷ State of Michigan. Michigan Public Service Commission. *MI Power Grid*. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/MPG Flier 10-16-19 668834 7.pdf. ²⁸⁸ Ibid.

²⁸⁹ Michigan Public Service Commission. "MPSC Welcomes Results of ITC Michigan Study on Lowest-cost Areas for New Clean Energy Sites." News release, October 14, 2021. MPSC. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93307 93313 17280-570564--,00.html.

²⁹⁰ Ibid.

²⁹¹ MI Power Grid Status Report, Report, Michigan Public Service Commission, State of Michigan, September 30, 2021. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://mi-

psc.force.com/sfc/servlet.shepherd/version/download/068t000000UbzSVAAZ.

²⁹³ Ibid.

²⁹⁴ Issue Brief. Michigan Public Service Commission. Accessed December 13, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/Distributed Generation Issue Brief 4-18-18 620957 7.pdf ²⁹⁵ Ibid.

²⁹⁶ Ibid.

²⁹⁷ Ibid.

²⁹⁸ Distributed Generation Program Implementation. Michigan Public Service Commission. Accessed October 3, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0.9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463 93723 93730-406256--,00.html ²⁹⁹ Ibid.

³⁰⁰Distributed Generation Program Implementation. Michigan Public Service Commission. Accessed December 11, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93309 93439 93463 93723 93730-406256--,00.html ³⁰¹ Ibid.

³⁰² Ibid.

³⁰³ Ibid.

³⁰⁴ Ibid.

³⁰⁵ Retrieved Dec 11, 2021 from

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/MPSC Staff DG Report Calendar Year 2020 737505 7.pdf ³⁰⁶ Retrieved Dec. 11, 2021 from https://energynews.us/2021/04/12/michigan-solar-supporters-make-new-push-toeliminate-rooftop-solar-caps/

³⁰⁷ Ibid.

³⁰⁸ Ibid.

³⁰⁹ Ibid.

³¹⁰ Distributed Generation Program Report. Michigan Public Service Commission. October 2021. Accessed December 11, 2021.

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mpsc/MPSC Staff DG Report Calendar Year 2020 737505 7.pdf ³¹¹ State of Michigan 2021 House Bill 4236. February 11, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2021-2022/billintroduced/House/pdf/2021-HIB-4236.pdf

³¹² State of Michigan 2021 House Bill 4236. February 11, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2021-2022/billintroduced/House/pdf/2021-HIB-4236.pdf

³¹³ Michigan lawmakers consider bill to remove cap on distributed generation. Daily Energy Insider. March 05.

2021. Accessed October 31, 2021. https://dailyenergyinsider.com/policy/29405-michigan-lawmakers-consider-billto-remove-cap-on-distributed-generation/

³¹⁴ Ibid.

³¹⁵ State of Michigan House Bill 4716. April 27, 2021. Retrieved Oct. 31, 2021 from

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2021-2022/billintroduced/House/pdf/2021-HIB-4716.pdf

³¹⁶Michigan Legislature Introduces Bills to Expand Access to Community Solar. Solar Industry. April 19, 2021.

Accessed October 2021. https://solarindustrymag.com/hoitenga-hood-introduce-legislation-to-expand-access-tocommunity-solar

³¹⁷ Ibid.

³¹⁸ US Energy Information Administration. "Michigan analysis." Accessed October, 2021.

https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=MI#18.

³¹⁹ MI Power Grid Status Report, Report, Michigan Public Service Commission, State of Michigan, September 30, 2021. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://mi-

psc.force.com/sfc/servlet.shepherd/version/download/068t000000UbzSVAAZ.

³²⁰ "MI Power Grid." MPSC. Accessed December 11, 2021. https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93307_93312_93593---,00.html.